# HUM00152807

# NCT03883165

How do the neck muscles influence head acceleration during sport-associated impact events in high school athletes?

Principal Investigator: James T. Eckner, M.D., M.S.

Date approved by IRB - 06/16/2023

# How do the neck muscles influence head acceleration during sport-associated impact events in high school athletes?

Protocol Number: HUM00152807

# National Clinical Trial (NCT) Identified Number: 03883165

Principal Investigator: James T. Eckner, M.D., M.S.

Sponsor: N/A

# Funded by: NIH: Eunice Kennedy Shriver National Institute of Child Health and Human Development

Version Number: v.2.3

15 May 2023

Summary of Changes from Previous Version:

Affected Section(s)	Summary of Revisions Made	Rationale
1.2, 2.3.2, 4.1, 4.2, 4.3, 6.1.1, 6.1.2, 6.2, 9.2, 9.4.5	Low-Volume exercise group removed from protocol.	Reduce enrollment following COVID pandemic.
1.3	Clarification to criteria defining protocol deviation - updating number of days that create a deviation.	Reducing documentation burden associated with schedule deviations
2.3.1, 2.3.3, 5.2	Removal or MRI contraindication as exclusion criteria.	Low enrollment number. MRI data is not used for primary outcome. Removing this criterion may increase the number of eligible participants.

# **Table of Contents**

STAT	EMENT OF COMPLIANCE	1
1	PROTOCOL SUMMARY	1
1.1	Synopsis	1
1.2	Schema	3
1.3	Schedule of Activities (SoA)	4
2	INTRODUCTION	4
2.1	Study Rationale	4
2.2	Background	5
2.3	Risk/Benefit Assessment	8
2.	3.1 Known Potential Risks	8
2.	3.2 Known Potential Benefits	9
2.	.3.3 Assessment of Potential Risks and Benefits	10
3	OBJECTIVES AND ENDPOINTS	11
4	STUDY DESIGN	13
4.1	Overall Design	13
4.2	Scientific Rationale for Study Design	13
4.3	Justification for Dose	13
4.4	End of Study Definition	14
5	STUDY POPULATION	14
5.1	Inclusion Criteria	14
5.2	Exclusion Criteria	14
5.3	Lifestyle Considerations	15
5.4	Screen Failures	15
5.5	Strategies for Recruitment and Retention	16
6	STUDY INTERVENTION	17
6.1	Study Intervention(s) Administration	17
6.	1.1 Study Intervention Description	17
6.	1.2 INTERVENTION Administration	17
6.2	Measures to Minimize Bias: Randomization and Blinding	17
6.3	Study Intervention Compliance	18
6.4	Concomitant Therapy	18
6.	4.1 Rescue Medicine	18
7 DISCO	STUDY INTERVENTION DISCONTINUATION AND PARTICIPANT	
7.1	Discontinuation of Study Intervention	
7.2	Participant Discontinuation/Withdrawal from the Study	
7.3	Lost to Follow-Up	19
8	STUDY ASSESSMENTS AND PROCEDURES	19
8.1	Efficacy Assessments	19
8.2	Safety and Other Assessments	22
8.3	Adverse Events and Serious Adverse Events	22
8.	.3.1 Definition of Adverse Events (AE)	22
8.	.3.2 Definition of Serious Adverse Events (SAE)	22
8.	.3.3 Time Period and Frequency for Event Assessment and Follow-Up	24
8.	.3.4 Adverse Event Reporting	25
8.	.3.5 Serious Adverse Event Reporting	25

8.3.6	Reporting Events to Participants	25
8.3.7	Events of Special Interest	25
8.3.8	Reporting of Pregnancy	25
8.4	Unanticipated Problems	
8.4.1	Definition of Unanticipated Problems (UP)	
8.4.2	Unanticipated Problem Reporting	
8.4.3	Reporting Unanticipated Problems to Participants	
9 STA	FISTICAL CONSIDERATIONS	27
9.1	Statistical Hypotheses	27
9.2	Sample Size Determination	27
9.3	Populations for Analyses	27
9.4	Statistical Analyses	27
9.4.1	General Approach	
9.4.2	Analysis of the Primary Efficacy Endpoint	
9.4.3	Analysis of the Secondary Endpoint(s)	rror! Bookmark not defined.
9.4.4	Safety Analyses	
9.4.5	Baseline Descriptive Statistics	
9.4.6	Planned Interim Analyses	
9.4.7	Sub-Group Analyses	
9.4.8	Tabulation of Individual participant Data	
9.4.9	Exploratory Analyses	
10 SUP	PORTING DOCUMENTATION AND OPERATIONAL CONSIDERAT	ΓΙΟΝS29
10.1	Regulatory, Ethical, and Study Oversight Considerations	29
10.1.1	Informed Consent Process	
10.1.2	Study Discontinuation and Closure	
10.1.3	Future Use of Stored Specimens and Data	
10.1.4	Key Roles and Study Governance	
10.1.5	Safety Oversight	
10.1.6	Clinical Monitoring	
10.1.7	Quality Assurance and Quality Control	
10.1.8	Data Handling and Record Keeping	
10.1.9	Protocol Deviations	
10.1.10	Publication and Data Sharing Policy	
10.1.11	Conflict of Interest Policy	34
10.2	Additional Considerations	34
10.3	Abbreviations	34
10.4	Protocol Amendment History	
11 REFI	ERENCES	

## STATEMENT OF COMPLIANCE

The protocol, informed consent form(s), recruitment materials, and all participant materials will be submitted to the Institutional Review Board (IRB) for review and approval. Approval of both the protocol and the consent form will be obtained before any participant is enrolled. Any amendment to the protocol will require review and approval by the IRB before the changes are implemented to the study. In addition, all changes to the consent form will be IRB-approved; a determination will be made regarding whether a new consent needs to be obtained from participants who provided consent, using a previously approved consent form.

Investigators and clinical trial site staff responsible for study conduct, management, or oversight will complete Human Subjects Protection training in best practices for research.

1	PROTOCOL SUMI	MARY
1.1	SYNOPSIS	
Titl	e: dy Description:	How do the neck muscles influence head acceleration during sport- associated impact events in high school athletes? Sport-related concussion is a common injury associated with significant short- and long-term disability in high school athletes. This project will study up to 72 healthy male and female soccer athletes to determine how neck strengthening exercise affects head acceleration during sport- associated impacts (AIM 1) and define the mechanism relating neck strength and neck muscle volume to head acceleration under different impact conditions (AIM 2). The long term goal of this project is to optimize neck strengthening exercise programs to decrease the risk of concussion in high school athletes.
Objectives:		Primary Objective (AIM 1): To determine the effect of manual resistance neck strengthening exercise on net head acceleration during simulated sport-associated impacts to the head (direct loading condition). Secondary Objective (AIM 1): To determine the effect of manual resistance neck strengthening exercise on net head acceleration during simulated sport-associated impacts to the body (indirect loading condition). Exploratory Objective (AIM 1): To determine the effect of manual resistance neck strengthening exercise over time on neck strength, cervical muscle volume, neuromuscular recruitment, and net head acceleration under direct and indirect loading as well as during voluntary soccer heading. Exploratory Objective (AIM 2): To determine the relative influences of baseline neck strength and cervical muscle volume on net head acceleration during simulated sport-associated impacts to the head and body with and without volitional, anticipatory cervical muscle pre- contraction to brace for the impact.

Endpoints:	Primary Endpoint: Mean area under the net head acceleration vs. time curve during direct loading, with anticipatory bracing, at Assessment Time Point 4.
	Secondary Endpoint: Mean area under the net head acceleration vs. time curve during indirect loading, with anticipatory bracing, at Assessment Time Point 4.
Study Population:	Up to 72 male and female high school soccer athletes in and around Ann Arbor Michigan.
Phase:	N/A
Description of	University of Michigan.
Sites/Facilities Enrolling	
Participants:	
Description of Study	Neck strengthening resistance exercise.
Intervention:	
Study Duration:	Approximately 60 months.
Participant Duration:	Approximately 4 months.

## 1.2 SCHEMA



Refer to Section 1.3, Schedule of Activities, for additional detail.

## 1.3 SCHEDULE OF ACTIVITIES (SOA)

	1	1									
	Initial Phone Screening Day -90 to -2	In-person screening/Intake Day -30 to -1	Baseline Assessment (#1) Day 1	Baseline MRI Day 1+/- 10 days	Exercise (2x/week) Weeks 1-4	Interim Assessment (#2) 28 +/- 10 days from #1	Exercise (2x/week) Weeks 5-8	Interim Assessment (#3) 28 +/- 10 days from #2	Exercise (2x/week) Weeks 9-12	Final Assessment (#4) 28 +/- 10 days from #3	Final MRI 28 +/- 10 days from #3
Procedures											
Eligibility review	Х	Х									
Demographics	Х	Х									
Medical and sport history	Х	Х									
Screening physical examination		Х									
Informed consent		Х									
Anthropometric assessment			Х			Х		Х		Х	
Randomized group allocation			Х								
Neck strength			Х			Х		Х		Х	
Cervical Muscle ultrasound			Х			Х		Х		Х	
Neck MRI				Х							Х
Cervical muscle activation			Х			Х		Х		Х	
Net head acceleration			Х			Х		Х		Х	
Exercise (2x/week) with strength					v		v		v		
coach					X		~		×		
Adverse event monitoring			Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х

# 2 INTRODUCTION

## 2.1 STUDY RATIONALE

Neck strengthening exercise represents a simple and practical intervention to reduce the risk of sportrelated concussion (SRC) in the millions of student-athletes who play a high school sport in the US each year. Athletes whose necks are less able to attenuate forces acting on their heads during an impact will experience greater head acceleration and therefore be at higher risk for sustaining SRC. In fact, the only study to directly assess the neck's influence on concussion risk was a prospective epidemiological investigation demonstrating that for every one-pound increase in neck strength there was a 5% reduction in the odds of sustaining SRC.<sup>12</sup> However, neck strengthening exercise remains under-utilized in the high school athlete population, and there is a gap in our understanding of how the neck influences an athlete's head acceleration under different impact conditions, as well as how these relationships may be modified by exercise. There is a critical need to define these relationships and to develop optimal neck strengthening exercise protocols for high school athletes to reduce their risk of SRC.

This work is expected to have a positive translational impact in the field because *evidence-based prescription of neck strengthening exercise represents a significant advancement over the existing status quo*, which ranges from an uninformed "shooting in the dark" approach to neck strengthening exercise prescription to no neck strengthening exercise at all. Based on our own pilot results and published epidemiological work, we estimate that neck strengthening exercise may have the *potential to prevent as many as 47,000 cases of SRC* in high school athletes annually. While this work will focus on high school soccer athletes, it will have translational potential to inform SRC prevention efforts in broader athlete populations, including youth and collegiate athletes, as well as athletes who participate in sports other than soccer.

# 2.2 BACKGROUND

#### **Clinical and Societal Significance**

Sport and recreation-related concussion (SRC) is a common injury estimated to affect as many as 3.8 million Americans each year, and is now recognized as a major public health concern in the U.S.<sup>45, 50</sup> In the short-term, SRC causes a constellation of physical, cognitive, affective, and sleep-related signs and symptoms limiting an athlete's ability to participate in academic, vocational, and recreational pursuits for a period of days to months. A history of SRC increases an athlete's risk for sustaining subsequent concussions in the short term,<sup>88</sup> as well as for developing depression,<sup>30</sup> dementia,<sup>29</sup> and neurodegenerative diseases including chronic traumatic encephalopathy later in life.<sup>52</sup> Given the myriad of negative short- and long-term consequences of SRC, developing injury prevention strategies is critically important.

The ~7.8 million student-athletes who participate in organized sports at the high school level each year represent the single largest population of athletes at risk for sustaining SRC.<sup>58</sup> In fact, we recently reported in *JAMA* more than one out of every 5 U.S. high school students who participate in contact and semi-contact sports has sustained at least one prior concussion.<sup>82</sup> Further, concussions represent approximately 13% of all athletic injuries in this population.<sup>48</sup> High school-aged and younger athletes whose brains have yet to fully develop are also thought to have a greater physiological susceptibility to concussion than adults.<sup>38</sup>

#### **Overall Scientific Premise**

This proposal is built upon the overall scientific premise that concussion occurs as a result of rapid head acceleration following external force application. An early explanation of the positive association between head acceleration and the risk of brain injury was provided by the Wayne State Tolerance Curve (WSTC), which demonstrated that injury risk increased with greater magnitudes and durations of linear head acceleration.<sup>28</sup> Weaknesses of the WSTC include its failure to account for angular acceleration and its focus on more severe brain injury rather than SRC. More recently, our group and others have performed field-based concussion biomechanics research using a helmet-based head impact sensor [Head Impact Telemetry (HIT) System] further supporting the relationship between head acceleration and the associated risk of SRC.5, 7, 18, 23, 68 We have recently published two reviews summarizing that body of work,<sup>4, 6</sup> which now includes over 40 peer-reviewed scientific publications. The HIT System provides the best *in vivo* biomechanical head impact data available today.<sup>1, 15, 65</sup> but is limited by measurement error associated with imperfect coupling of the in-helmet sensors to the head.<sup>40</sup> Furthermore, most studies using the HIT System have given relatively little consideration to impact durations. Field-based biomechanics research provides an unparalleled ability to collect head acceleration data in vivo, but has failed to demonstrate a simple linear or angular acceleration threshold able to reliably discriminate between concussive and non-concussive head impacts.<sup>31,56</sup> Nonetheless, it is clear the risk of concussion associated with a given impact increases with increasing linear and angular head acceleration magnitudes and durations.66

Head acceleration causes concussion by inducing brain tissue deformation that leads to microstructural and physiological injury.<sup>53</sup> Since greater head acceleration magnitudes and durations both increase brain tissue deformation, *this provides a mechanistic explanation for the observed relationship between head acceleration and concussion*.

**Scientific Premise for AIM 1:** *AIM 1 is based on the scientific premise that attributes of an athlete's cervical muscles (i.e., neck strength, cervical muscle volume and neuromuscular recruitment patterns) influence their risk of SRC for a given impact by modifying the resultant acceleration of their head. Therefore, neck strengthening exercise has the potential to mitigate head acceleration during sport-associated impacts to reduce an athlete's SRC risk.* The strongest evidence that the neck can influence an athlete's risk of SRC comes from a large epidemiological study involving 6,704 high school male and female soccer, basketball, and lacrosse athletes.<sup>12</sup> In that study there was a 5% decrease in

odds of SRC for every one-pound increase in neck strength. However, that study did not address the mechanism relating neck strength to concussion risk so it cannot directly inform the development of neck strengthening exercise programs. In contrast with that epidemiological evidence, two *in vivo* studies using the HIT System to measure head acceleration magnitudes as a proxy measure for concussion risk failed to support the hypothesis that having a larger, stronger neck is associated with lower head accelerations in American football and ice hockey athletes in the field.<sup>55, 67</sup> While these field-based studies share strong ecological validity, a major weakness of both studies was their lack of experimental control. Because impact conditions were not monitored, factors known to influence head acceleration, such as impact anticipation and bracing,<sup>34, 54</sup> may have confounded any underlying association between cervical muscle attributes and head acceleration.

Taking advantage of the greater experimental control achieved in a laboratory environment, we have previously reported on the influence of neck strength and circumference on head accelerations in response to standardized test loads.<sup>22</sup> In 46 male and female contact sport athletes exposed to standardized loads in each plane of motion, we found greater neck strength and circumference were both significantly associated (r= .42 to r= .76) with lower head acceleration, quantified in that study as the changes in linear and angular velocity ( $\Delta V$  in m/s and  $\Delta \omega$  in °/s) to account for both acceleration magnitude and duration given their mathematical equivalence to the areas under the linear and angular acceleration curves. Other groups have used similar laboratory-based methodologies to administer sagittal-plane standardized test loads to subjects' heads in pursuit of complementary study aims with similar results.<sup>63, 70, 75</sup> Such experimental designs allow researchers to safely and precisely apply standardized test loads directly to the head, while measuring resultant linear and angular head accelerations with a high degree of accuracy. However, with this standardization, precision, and control comes the loss of ecological validity as such testing paradigms do not closely mimic the circumstances athletes experience during live sport participation. One approach to improving ecological validity while maintaining a high degree of experimental control is to study simulated sport-specific events in a lab environment. Several studies have adopted this approach to either directly or indirectly assess relationships between various cervical attributes and head acceleration during lab-based soccer heading tasks, typically reporting significant associations between greater neck strength and/or circumference and lower head acceleration.<sup>3, 9, 32, 74</sup> However, no study has investigated the effect of a neck strengthening intervention on head acceleration using a soccer heading model.

The strongest direct support for the premise that neck strengthening exercise will decrease head acceleration during sport-associated impacts comes from our own group's pilot data collected in 17 male and female youth and high school athletes.<sup>19</sup> In our pilot study, 13 participants assigned to a supervised 8-week manual resistance neck strengthening exercise program had greater increases in neck strength than 4 participants assigned to a control resistance exercise program not specifically targeting the neck. Athletes in both groups experienced decreases in head acceleration, again quantified as  $\Delta V$  and  $\Delta \omega$ . Multiple other researchers have also demonstrated increases in neck strength and circumference with resistance training,<sup>8, 13, 27, 71, 72</sup> but only one other published study has reported the effect of neck strengthening exercise program or a control program not including cervical resistance exercises. The neck strengthening exercise group demonstrated increases in neck strength and circumference, but without a corresponding decrease in peak angular head acceleration during standardized loading in flexion and extension.

Unfortunately, there are limitations associated with both of those interventional studies. A limitation of <u>our own pilot neck strengthening study</u><sup>19</sup> was its small, unbalanced sample size, which limits statistical power and the generalizability of our results. Furthermore, because we did not measure the resistance applied by the strength coach during the manual resistance exercises, we were unable to assess for evidence of dose-response relationships. The Mansell et al. study<sup>47</sup> was likely limited by a ceiling effect due to its inclusion of only highly-trained Division I collegiate athletes. <u>A potential ceiling effect is supported by our own data</u> demonstrating non-linearity in the relationship between neck strength

and head acceleration.<sup>22</sup> Furthermore those results may not generalize to non-collegiate populations. In addition, that exercise intervention addressed only the sagittal plane, and only sagittal-plane angular head acceleration magnitude was considered as a kinematic outcome. Finally, neither study's laboratory-based standardized test loads were representative of head impact events encountered by athletes during sport participation in the field. *There remains a knowledge gap in how neck strengthening exercise influences an athlete's head acceleration during sport-associated impacts.* 

AIM 1 will directly address this knowledge gap by determining the effect of manual resistance neck strengthening exercise on net head acceleration during direct force application to the head, force application to the body with inertial force transmission to the head via a simulated checking/blocking task, and voluntary soccer heading. In designing AIM 1, we have addressed each of the limitations in the previous studies described above.

Scientific Premise for AIM 2: AIM 2 is based on the scientific premise that anticipatory precontraction of the cervical muscles to brace for an impact influences head acceleration. Furthermore, cervical muscle attributes (i.e., neck strength and cervical muscle volume) influence head acceleration differently with vs. without cervical muscle pre-contraction. This premise is supported by our own work demonstrating that head acceleration, again reported as  $\Delta V$  and  $\Delta \omega$ , decreased by 12.3% and 9.7%. respectively, during anticipatory cervical muscle pre-contraction as compared to relaxed, upright sitting.<sup>22</sup> Recent finite element modeling work, as well as numerous other studies in the concussion and whiplash literature, have also reported decreased head acceleration in response to various forms of loading during trials with vs. without anticipation and/or cervical muscle pre-contraction.<sup>34, 41, 44, 57, 63, 70, 75</sup> However, the design of those studies limits the insight they can provide into which cervical muscle attribute is most responsible for controlling head acceleration with vs. without anticipatory pre-contraction. While not the primary objective, our previous work demonstrated greater neck strength and circumference were each significantly associated with lower  $\Delta V$  and  $\Delta \omega$  across all directions of head motion under both anticipation conditions (r= .42 to r= .60 for neck strength; r= .60 to r= .76 for neck circumference).<sup>22</sup> In that study, more of the variability in head acceleration was explained by neck strength for 6 of the 7 models under the anticipated condition, but by neck circumference for 6 of the 7 models without anticipation. That finding suggests neck strength and cervical muscle volume may influence head acceleration differently depending on cervical muscle pre-contraction status. We are unaware of other reports to directly quantify the relationships between individual cervical muscle attributes and head acceleration with vs. without anticipatory cervical muscle pre-contraction.

The premise that neck strength and cervical muscle volume may exert differential influences on head acceleration during anticipated vs. unanticipated impacts is further supported when considering each potential cervical contributor to head acceleration. Previous work concluded that since the mechanical properties of the neck's non-contractile tissues (e.g., bone, ligament) are not affected by muscle activation, and because peak head acceleration is reached before either a reflexive or voluntary muscular response has had time to occur, head acceleration is primarily influenced by the mechanical properties of the cervical muscles.<sup>70</sup> Passive muscle stiffness is strongly influenced by the amount of muscle tissue being acted upon.<sup>26, 85</sup> In contrast, the stiffness of actively contracting muscle increases proportionally with muscle activation and torque.<sup>2, 37, 84</sup> Therefore for any volume of cervical muscle, greater neck strength (i.e., torque generation) associated with improved neuromuscular recruitment is expected to confer greater muscle stiffness during maximal anticipatory cervical muscle pre-contraction to brace for the impact. While muscle strength and volume co-vary, these characteristics are known to change independently from one another with aging,<sup>42, 86</sup> disuse,<sup>11, 81</sup> and of greater direct applicability to this proposal, following resistance training.<sup>25</sup> There remains a knowledge gap in how individual cervical muscle attributes affect head acceleration during sport-associated impacts with vs. without anticipatory cervical muscle pre-contraction to brace for the impact.

AIM 2 will directly address this knowledge gap by comparing the relative weights of neck strength and cervical muscle volume in predicting net head acceleration during anticipated and unanticipated impacts to the head and body.

## 2.3 RISK/BENEFIT ASSESSMENT

#### 2.3.1 KNOWN POTENTIAL RISKS

Potential risks associated with each component of the study include:

*Collection of demographic and historical information:* Loss of privacy and/or confidentiality is the main potential risk associated with this component of the study. This risk is considered non-serious. Likelihood: rare (< 1%).

*Collection of anthropometric data:* Subjects may feel embarrassed if they consider their height or weight to be outside of their self-perceived desirable range. There is also potential loss of privacy and/or confidentiality associated with anthropometric data collection. These risk are collectively considered non-serious. Likelihood: infrequent (1-10%).

*Cervical muscle volume (MRI) and cross sectional area (ultrasound) assessments:* There is no radiation exposure associated with either MRI or ultrasonography and there are no known adverse long term effects associated with either imaging modality. It is possible that subjects may feel uneasy while confined to the small space inside the MRI scanner. It is also possible that during sonographic assessment of the neck muscles the carotid baroreceptors could be stimulated by the transducer head resulting in a syncopal or near syncopal episode (fainting/near-fainting). These risks are considered nonserious. Likelihood: rare (< 1%). Not all subjects will undergo an MRI scan.

*Neck strength assessment:* Subjects may feel muscular discomfort associated with maximal isometric contraction of their cervical muscles. This risk is considered non-serious. Likelihood: infrequent (1-10%).

Assessment of the head's dynamic response to direct force application: Subjects may initially be concerned about how the direct force application loads will feel. This risk is considered non-serious. Likelihood: likely (10-25%). Subjects could potentially experience neck pain or a headache associated with this loading condition. The most likely etiology for neck pain is anticipated to be mild cervical muscle strain and the most likely etiology for headache is anticipated to be cervicogenic headache. The risk of developing neck pain or headache is considered non-serious. Likelihood: rare (< 1%). It is not expected that any more serious neck or neurological injury (concussion, radiculopathy, spinal cord injury, or vascular injury) will result from this procedure.

Assessment of the head's dynamic response during the standardized checking/blocking and voluntary soccer heading tasks: Subjects could again potentially experience neck pain or a headache associated with these loading conditions. Again, these risks are considered non-serious. Likelihood: rare (< 1%). Specific to the simulated checking/blocking task, subjects could also potentially experience musculoskeletal back, chest, or shoulder pain or "have the wind knocked out of them" due to the impacts delivered to their torsos by the punching bag. The risk of developing musculoskeletal pain or "having the wind knocked out of them" is also considered non-serious. Likelihood: rare (< 1%). It is not expected that any more serious injuries such as fracture or joint dislocation will result from these procedures. Both tasks were designed to simulate the low-end of forces experienced by an athlete while performing a soccer

header or being checked/blocked during live soccer play and are therefore felt to be less risky than their routine participation in sport and no more risk than they experience in normal, everyday recreational activities. In addition, the controlled laboratory conditions under which the headers will be performed will allow ample time to properly align the head with the ball to ensure correct heading technique. The proposed soccer heading task, which involves less than 10 headers performed with an incoming ball velocity of less than 10 m/s, represents fewer headers at a lower velocity, and with a less-inflated ball than would be expected to occur during a high school soccer practice or a physical education class activity focusing on heading skills. Furthermore, this protocol represents an overall smaller combination of repetitions and ball velocities than has been used in existing research studies involving standardized soccer headers. Similar studies in the past have included as many as 20 headers and ball velocities up to 25 m/s. The soccer heading and checking/blocking tasks were developed with input from our expert soccer advisor, Mr. Greg Ryan, the former University of Michigan Women's Varsity Soccer coach, who has extensive soccer coaching experience at the high school level is also of the opinion these controlled tasks will not pose any safety risk to high school soccer athletes, and will be no greater risk than youth members of the general population are exposed to during normal recreational activities.

*Kinematic measurements:* Light emitting diodes used with a high speed kinematic camera system may become hot to the touch when left to record continuously. Subjects could experience a minor superficial skin burn if a light emitting diode became too hot and was left in place, although this would be unlikely as the diodes are not affixed directly to the skin, but rather to a plastic plate surface affixed to the skin. The risk associated with this is considered non-serious. Likelihood: rare (< 1%).

*Skin preparation/application of skin adhesives:* Subjects may experience minor skin cuts or irritation associated with skin shaving or the adhesive backing on the surface EMG electrodes or other superficially adherent sensors. The risk associated with this is considered non-serious. Likelihood: infrequent (1-10%).

*Fitting of boil-and-bite mouth guards*: Subjects could receive minor burn to their hands or mouths while using boiling water to fit mouth guards to their mouth if direct contact with the boiling water occurred. The risk of burn is considered non-serious. Likelihood: rare (< 1%).

*Supervised exercise sessions:* Subjects are anticipated to experience delayed-onset muscle soreness following resistance training, which is a normal training-related phenomenon. The risk associated with this is considered non-serious. Likelihood: frequent (>25%). It is not expected that any serious training-related injuries will result from participation in study exercise sessions.

## 2.3.2 KNOWN POTENTIAL BENEFITS

Subjects allocated to both study groups may potentially benefit from the resistance training exercise program administered by the Certified Strength and Conditioning Specialist during the study. Resistance training is anticipated to improve muscle strength and endurance and has the potential to enhance subjects' athletic performance as well as to reduce their risk of sustaining sport-related injury. In addition, subjects will receive a 4-month gym membership,

permitting them unrestricted access to the gym's exercise facilities for the duration of their membership.

## 2.3.3 ASSESSMENT OF POTENTIAL RISKS AND BENEFITS

All study activities will be approved and monitored by the UM IRB-MED.

The PI, who is a licensed and board certified Physical Medicine and Rehabilitation physician will complete a final in-person eligibility determination for each subject. If the PI is unavailable to perform the in-person eligibility determination, then a qualified designated Co-I will complete the final in-person eligibility determination in the PI's absence. Potential subjects with any historical or physical examination findings felt by the PI, or his designee, to place them at potentially elevated risk for injury will be excluded.

Subject privacy will be protected during laboratory assessments by testing in a private environment closed to the outside in the presence of study personnel only. To ensure the confidentiality of data and personal information, all electronic data will be coded. Only the PI and appropriate study personnel will have access to the key, which will be stored on a password-protected secure computer maintained by the University of Michigan.

Prior to each laboratory testing and exercise session, subjects will complete a brief warm-up routine including static and dynamic neck stretches. All exercise sessions will be administered by a Certified Strength and Conditioning Specialist (CSCS) so the risk of sustaining any exercise-related injury is felt to be lower than that typically present during unsupervised or indirectly supervised resistance training exercise.

Additionally, the following test-specific safety measures will be employed to minimize risk to subjects during laboratory testing:

Neck MRI and cervical muscle cross sectional area measurements with ultrasound: Subjects will undergo ultrasound testing while seated in a chair with bilateral armrests. The tester will be seated immediately adjacent to the subject during the assessment. In the unlikely event of a syncopal episode, the subject will be prevented from falling to minimize potential risk of injury.

Assessment of the head's dynamic response to direct force application: During our experience using this technique, concerned subjects have been uniformly relieved after experiencing the first load applied to their head. The testing apparatus is designed to limit forced displacement of the head and the drop height of the weight is set so that no more energy is delivered to the subject's head than is necessary to generate a reliable, measurable dynamic response. In our experience using the direct force application model, measured head accelerations are approximately 10-fold less than the minimum values typically reported in the literature to cause concussion in athletes in the field.

Assessment of the head's dynamic response during the simulated checking/blocking and voluntary soccer heading tasks: Subjects will wear a mouth guard during these tasks for dental protection. Both tasks were designed to simulate the low-end of forces experienced by an athlete while performing a soccer header or being checked/blocked during live soccer play and are therefore felt to be no more risk than their routine

participation in everyday recreational activities. In addition, the controlled laboratory conditions under which the tasks will be performed will allow ample time to properly align the head/body with the ball/punching bag to ensure correct heading/blocking technique. The proposed soccer heading task represents fewer headers of lower magnitude than would be expected to occur during a high school soccer practice or a physical education class activity focusing on heading skills. Furthermore, this protocol utilizes an overall smaller combination of repetitions and ball velocities than has been used in previous research studies involving standardized soccer headers.<sup>3, 14, 15, 23, 30, 31, 47, 55, 62</sup> We are not aware of any existing research using a similar checking/blocking task that can be compared to our proposed protocol, but the subjective experience of the volunteers who were involved during protocol development was that no discomfort occurred. During the simulated checking/blocking task, the distance the boxer's punching bag swings before contacting the subject's body is set sufficiently low so as not to displace the subject's feet upon contact with the minimum amount of energy delivered as necessary to generate a reliable, measurable dynamic head response. The soccer heading and checking/blocking tasks were both developed with safety input from a collegiate soccer coach with extensive experience working with high school soccer athletes.

*Kinematic measurements:* Kinematic recording will be paused between trials to minimize the chances of light emitting diode heating.

*Fitting procedures for boil-and-bite mouth guards:* While fitting the boil-and-bite mouth guards, after removing the unit from the boiling water subjects will fully submerge it in cold water before placing it in their mouths.

The risk level for all study activities is *no more than minimal* because subjects will not be performing any activities riskier than those they routinely experience in their day-to-day lives. All eligible subjects are high school athletes who are expected to routinely experience minor, and in some cases major, trauma to the head, neck, and body during sport participation, such as regular voluntary heading of a soccer ball. Routine sport participation is felt to be associated with a much greater potential for injury than the controlled experimental procedures associated with this study. In addition, participation in a resistance training exercise program under the direct supervision of a Certified Strength and Conditioning Specialist is felt to be safer than participation in an unsupervised or indirectly supervised resistance training program, as is typical for high school athletes. As such, we feel the potential benefits to subjects, as well as the potential future benefits of this work to athletes like those participating in this study, outweigh the minimal risks to subjects.

# **3** OBJECTIVES AND ENDPOINTS

OBJECTIVES	ENDPOINTS	JUSTIFICATION FOR ENDPOINTS
Primary		
Primary Objective (AIM 1):	Primary Endpoint: Mean area	Head acceleration is used as the
To determine the effect of	under the net head acceleration	study's lab-based proxy
manual resistance neck	vs. time curve during direct	measure for concussion risk
strengthening exercise on net	loading, with anticipatory	(greater head acceleration is
head acceleration during	bracing, at Assessment Time	associated with greater risk).
simulated sport-associated	Point 4.	Concussion is most commonly
		caused by direct force

OBJECTIVES	ENDPOINTS	JUSTIFICATION FOR ENDPOINTS
impacts to the head (direct		application to the head. This
loading condition).		study seeks to determine how
		manual resistance neck
		strengthening exercise
		influences an athlete's head
		acceleration under direct
		loading.
Secondary		
Secondary Objective (AIM 1):	Secondary Endpoint: Mean	While a less common
To determine the effect of	area under the net head	mechanism than direct loading
manual resistance neck	acceleration vs. time curve	to the head, concussion can also
strengthening exercise on net	during indirect loading, with	be caused by indirect
head acceleration during	anticipatory bracing, at	transmission of forces to the
simulated sport-associated	Assessment Time Point 4.	head from the body. This study
impacts to the body (indirect		therefore seeks to also
loading condition).		determine how manual
		resistance neck strengthening
		exercise influences an athlete's
		head acceleration under
		indirect loading.
Tertiary/Exploratory		
Exploratory Objective 1 (AIM 1):	Exploratory AIM 1 Endpoints:	Resistance training is known to
To determine the effect of	Neck strength (peak	increase muscle strength
manual resistance neck	force/moment and rate of	through more efficient
strengthening exercise over	force/torque development);	neuromuscular recruitment
time on neck strength, cervical	total cervical muscle volume	(i.e., muscle activation patterns)
muscle volume, neuromuscular	(estimated based on sex, neck	before muscle hypertrophy (i.e.,
recruitment, and net head	circumference, cervical	increase in muscle size) occurs.
acceleration under direct and	ultrasound and MRI	This study seeks to understand
indirect loading as well as during	measurements); cervical muscle	the effect of resistance exercise
voluntary soccer heading.	activation (agonist muscle	on neck strength, as well as
Exploratory Objective 2 (AIM 2):	activation, antagonist muscle	cervical muscle volume and
To determine the effect of	inhibition based on surface	activation patterns. This study
manual resistance neck	EMG); mean area under the net	also seeks to determine the
strengthening exercise on the	head acceleration vs. time curve	relative influence of neck
relative influence of neck	during direct and indirect	strength vs. cervical muscle
strength vs. cervical muscle	loading, with anticipatory	volume on head acceleration
volume on net head	bracing, at Assessment Time	during impacts to the head and
acceleration during direct and	Points 1, 2, 3; mean area under	body that are anticipated (i.e.,
indirect loading with and	the net head acceleration vs.	with bracing) vs. unanticipated
without volitional, anticipatory	time curve during voluntary	(i.e., without bracing), and will
cervical muscle pre-contraction	soccer heading at Assessment	explore whether the relative
to brace for the impact.	Time Points 1, 2, 3, 4.	influence of neck strength vs.
	Exploratory AIM 2 Endpoints:	cervical muscle volume on head
	Mean area under the net head	acceleration is influenced by
	acceleration vs. time curve	manual resistance neck

OBJECTIVES	ENDPOINTS	JUSTIFICATION FOR ENDPOINTS
	during direct and indirect	strengthening exercise. In
	loading, without anticipatory	addition to the direct and
	bracing, at Assessment Time	indirect loading conditions,
	Points 1, 2, 3, 4.	which are both passive (i.e.,
		force application is not initiated
		by the subject), voluntary
		soccer heading is also included
		as an exploratory loading
		condition representing a more
		active sport-associated impact
		scenario.

## 4 STUDY DESIGN

## 4.1 OVERALL DESIGN

In this single-site randomized clinical trial, 72 high school soccer athletes will complete a series of 4 laboratory assessment sessions before, during, and after a 12-week resistance training program including either high intensity neck strengthening exercises or control exercises not targeting the neck. During each laboratory assessment, measurements will be performed to assess key cervical muscle attributes, as well as the head's net acceleration under multiple loading conditions designed to reflect the range of impact scenarios encountered by athletes during sport participation. The primary loading conditions will be direct force application to the head using the customized loading apparatus designed by our group for our previous research<sup>19, 22</sup> and a standardized checking/blocking task involving impacts to the body with inertial force transmission to the head. In addition, a voluntary soccer heading task will be used as an exploratory loading condition.

## 4.2 SCIENTIFIC RATIONALE FOR STUDY DESIGN

The control exercise group will perform only "shoulders-down" resistance exercises not directly targeting the neck so that the effects of the high intensity neck exercise program can be distinguished from changes associated with normal age-related growth and development or generalized effects of resistance training not specifically targeting the neck.

## 4.3 JUSTIFICATION FOR DOSE

All subjects will exercise 2 days per week under the direct supervision of a study-assigned strength coach (National Strength and Conditioning Association Certified Strength and Conditioning Specialist, CSCS, certification), with a minimum of 1 day of rest between exercise sessions. Subjects will be assigned either to a high intensity neck strengthening exercise group or to a control exercise group performing only "shoulders-down" resistance exercises not directly targeting the neck. All exercises will be performed in accordance with National Strength and Conditioning Association standards.<sup>76</sup> The neck strengthening program will include manual resistance exercises in sagittal-plane flexion and extension, coronal-plane lateral flexion to the left and right, and axial-plane rotation to the left and right, as well as dumbbell shoulder shrugs as previously described by our group.<sup>19</sup> For each group, the exercise program

will progress in volume and intensity over the duration of the study, to accommodate muscular fitness adaptation. Such progression is considered vital to the long-term efficacy of resistance exercise programming.

The volume load of neck strengthening exercise will be calculated using a modified protocol previously employed by our group for the elbow flexors.<sup>61</sup> For shoulder shrugs the volume load for each exercise session will be defined as the product of the dumbbell weight x the force of gravity (g= 9.8 m/s2) x the number of repetitions performed during the exercise session, to yield a volume load for the exercise session in N. During manual resistance exercise, the strength coach will hold a hand-held dynamometer against the subject's head to measure and record the force applied during manual resistance. For both dumbbell shrugs and manual resistance exercises, the total cumulative exercise volume load will be defined as the sum of the individual session volume loads over all exercise sessions completed by the subject. Since subjects assigned to the control group will not perform neck strengthening exercise, their exercise volume load will remain zero throughout the study.

## 4.4 END OF STUDY DEFINITION

A participant is considered to have completed the study if he or she has completed all phases of the study including the final lab assessment (#4) and final MRI, as shown in the Schedule of Activities (SoA), Section 1.3.

The end of the study is defined as completion of the last visit or procedure shown in the SoA in the trial globally.

# 5 STUDY POPULATION

## 5.1 INCLUSION CRITERIA

In order to be eligible to participate in this study, an individual must meet all of the following criteria:

- 1. Provision of signed and dated informed consent form, or assent form with parental consent for minors
- 2. Stated willingness to comply with all study procedures and availability for the duration of the study
- 3. Male or female, aged 13-19
- 4. Participated in a soccer team, club, or other soccer program/organization within the preceding 2 years
- 5. Be willing to adhere to the assigned exercise regimen

## 5.2 EXCLUSION CRITERIA

An individual who meets any of the following criteria on self/parental-report or screening examination, as appropriate, will be excluded from participation in this study:

1. Prior history of trauma-induced neck injury of sufficient severity to require treatment by a medical provider within 30 days of injury or to limit sport participation for > 1 day (note: having received

routine chiropractic treatment in the absence of a recent traumatic injury to the neck will not be considered to meet this criterion)

- 2. Any prior history of whiplash injury, stinger/burner, or cervical radiculopathy diagnosed by a medical provider
- 3. Any prior history of bone, disk, neural, or ligamentous abnormality identified on cervical spine medical imaging performed for any reason that is felt by the PI (or designee) to present a risk to study participation
- 4. Any prior history of surgery involving the cervical spine (note: having undergone non-spine surgery to the soft tissue structures in the neck will not necessarily exclude participation, but will be considered on a case-by-case basis by the PI, or his designee, with consultation from the performing surgeon when deemed appropriate)
- 5. Self-report of moderate or severe neck pain (rated as 5 or greater on a 10-point pain scale) lasting > 1 day in the previous 6 months that required treatment by a medical provider or that limited sport participation for > 1 day (note: having received routine chiropractic treatment in the absence of moderate-severe neck pain will not be considered to meet this criterion)
- 6. Self-report of low back pain (any severity) associated with morning stiffness occurring 30 days or more in the previous 3 months
- 7. Prior episode(s) of unexplained upper extremity numbness, tingling, or weakness suspicious to the PI, or designee, for a stinger/burner or cervical radiculopathy
- 8. Prior history of concussion in the previous 6 months diagnosed by a medical provider or suspected by the subject, or the parent/guardian of a minor (if no medical evaluation was sought)
- Personal history of migraine headaches within the previous 3 years diagnosed by a medical provider
- 10. Personal history of anxiety disorder diagnosed by a medical provider
- 11. Parental/guardian history of anxiety disorder diagnosed by a medical provider
- 12. Prior personal or parental history of the following medical conditions known to be associated with atlanto-axial instability diagnosed by a medical provider: rheumatoid arthritis or other systemic inflammatory disease with joint involvement, Down Syndrome, mucopolysaccharoidosis, Ehlers-Danlos Syndrome, Marfan Syndrome
- 13. Known exposure to or infection with head lice in the previous 30 days
- 14. Serious allergic reaction to nickel/metal jewelry
- 15. Known or suspected pregnancy (for females)
- 16. Presence of significant abnormality on a standardized screening neurological and musculoskeletal physical examination performed by the PI, or designee, including: pain with palpation or active range of motion of the cervical spine, abnormal active range of motion of the cervical spine, positive Spurling test, upper motor neuron signs (spasticity, hyper-reflexia (grade 4+), Hoffman sign, >2 beats of ankle clonus, Babinski sign/up-going toes), upper extremity reflex asymmetry, marfanoid body habitus (all of the following: arm span to height ratio > 1.05, hand length to height ratio > 0.11, foot length to height ratio > 0.15, upper body segment to lower body segment ratio < 0.89), or hypermobile joints (Beighton score > 4) or abnormal Schober test (< 5cm difference between standing and full forward flexion).</p>
- 17. Prior participation in a resistance exercise training program including exercises specifically intended to target the neck muscles within 3 months of enrollment, or intention to begin participating in such an exercise program outside of the study protocol during the upcoming 12-week study period
- 18. Unable to speak and understand English.

## 5.3 LIFESTYLE CONSIDERATIONS

N/A

#### 5.4 SCREEN FAILURES

Screen failures are defined as participants who do not meet the study inclusion/exclusion criteria as determined during the initial phone screening assessment or initial in-person screening evaluation. A minimal set of screen failure information will be retained to ensure transparent reporting of screen failure participants, to meet the Consolidated Standards of Reporting Trials (CONSORT) publishing requirements and to respond to queries from regulatory authorities. Minimal information includes demography, screen failure details, and eligibility criteria.

Individuals who do not meet the criteria for participation in this trial (screen failure) because of a time sensitive factor (e.g., diagnosed concussion within the past 6 months) may be rescreened. Rescreened participants will be assigned the same participant number as for the initial screening.

## 5.5 STRATEGIES FOR RECRUITMENT AND RETENTION

High school-aged soccer athletes will be recruited primarily through the athletics programs at local high schools, following local approval at each individual institution. Coaches, managers, athletic trainers, or other team/athletics personnel will be asked to post and/or distribute paper and/or electronic recruitment materials to those athletes who are members of the school's soccer teams. In addition, we will also recruit through other non-school-based local soccer clubs, camps, and programs in a similar manner, including recruitment through local soccer and/or fitness facilities. Lastly, we will advertise on the Michigan Institute of Clinical Health Research (MICHR) UM Health Research website (https://umhealthresearch.org), in UMHS clinics, and through public advertisements and outreach as necessary. UM Health Research is a secure registry database that matches people to clinical research studies, and is supported by the Michigan Institute for Clinical and Health Research.

Interested individuals (and/or their parents/guardians if minors) will complete an initial self-reported screening evaluation (either electronically with phone review or during a single phone session, per individual preference and availability) with a member of the study to assess study inclusion and exclusion criteria and to describe the details of the study. Those who pass the initial screening assessment and are interested in participating after hearing full study details will be scheduled for a final in-person eligibility assessment by the PI, or his designee, which will include a targeted screening physical examination.

Potential subjects passing both components of the screening assessment will then be invited to enroll in the study and those wishing to do so will complete the informed consent process (assent for minors with accompanying parent/guardian consent). All subjects will provide written informed consent using UM IRB-MED approved informed consent documents with a qualified member of the study team. Minor children under the age of 18 will provide written assent and a parent/guardian will provide written consent. During the in-person consent process the consenting study team member will review the entire informed consent document with the subject (and parent/guardian when applicable), including all potential risks associated with the study and will provide an opportunity to ask any questions they may have.

To promote study recruitment and retention, subjects will be compensated for their participation in this study. Compensation will be incrementally disbursed upon successful completion of each of the four laboratory testing sessions, with greater amounts provided for each successive testing session to incentivize full study completion. Subjects will also receive a 4-month membership at a local fitness facility as well as paid parking during study-associated appointments through the study.

## **6** STUDY INTERVENTION

#### 6.1 STUDY INTERVENTION(S) ADMINISTRATION

#### 6.1.1 STUDY INTERVENTION DESCRIPTION

The study intervention is participation in a supervised exercise program. Participants will perform two exercise sessions per week, with at least one day between sessions. All participants will perform a standardized set of general resistance exercises targeting the chest, shoulders, back, upper and lower extremities, and core. In addition, those participants allocated to the high intensity neck strengthening group will also perform manual resistance exercises in sagittal plane flexion and extension, coronal plane lateral flexion in both directions, and axial plane rotation in both directions, as well as dumbbell shoulder shrugs.

## 6.1.2 INTERVENTION ADMINISTRATION

The supervised exercise program will be administered by a Certified Strength and Conditioning Specialist. Manual resistance exercises will be performed lying horizontally on a standard weight lifting bench using a similar protocol as previously described by our group.<sup>19</sup> For each repetition, the CSCS will apply steady manual resistance through the both the concentric and eccentric phases of cervical range of motion. Shoulder shrugs will be performed at a tempo allowing for steady controlled movement to be maintained throughout the concentric and eccentric phases with a brief pause at the top of the shrug motion using the maximum load comfortably completed by each participant for the target number of repetitions while maintaining correct form. The high intensity neck strengthening exercise program will increase in volume and intensity over the study duration to accommodate muscular fitness adaptation. All exercises were performed in accordance with National Strength and Conditioning Association standards.<sup>76</sup>

#### 6.2 MEASURES TO MINIMIZE BIAS: RANDOMIZATION AND BLINDING

Subjects will be randomized using a centralized electronic randomization tool with equal allocation to the control and high-intensity neck strengthening groups. Balanced block randomization will be used to ensure equal sex and age category balance between the groups. Age category will correspond to high school under-class (i.e., age 13.0 - 16.49 years at the time of randomization) vs. upper-class (i.e., age 16.50 – 19.99 years) status given the typical maturation occurring in adolescents through the high school years. Subjects will be considered enrolled in the trial upon randomization and available data will be included in the intention to treat analysis. The Study Statistician, Strength Coach, Study Coordinator, and PI (or his Co-I designee when necessary to make a determination of AE relatedness to the study) will not be blinded to subject group allocation. Other members of the study team, including those responsible for performing the laboratory- and radiology-based assessment will be blinded to group allocation status. Subjects will not be informed of their group allocation status, although they will be aware of whether or not they are performing neck strengthening exercises during their exercise sessions. Subjects will be instructed not to discuss whether they are performing neck strengthening exercises during their exercise sessions.

## 6.3 STUDY INTERVENTION COMPLIANCE

Subjects will be given the opportunity to make-up any missed exercise sessions within 7 days of the originally scheduled date, so long as at least one day of rest is scheduled between successive exercise sessions. Subjects will be considered to have successfully completed the exercise protocol if at least 20 of the 24 exercise sessions are attended, with no more than 2 missed sessions during any 4-week block.

## 6.4 CONCOMITANT THERAPY

Participation in a resistance training exercise program including exercises specifically intended to target the neck muscles either in the 3 months prior to study enrollment or a plan to begin participating in such an exercise program outside of the study protocol at any point during the 12-week study period are criteria for exclusion.

## 6.4.1 RESCUE MEDICINE

N/A

# 7 STUDY INTERVENTION DISCONTINUATION AND PARTICIPANT DISCONTINUATION/WITHDRAWAL

## 7.1 DISCONTINUATION OF STUDY INTERVENTION

Discontinuation from the exercise intervention does not necessarily mandate immediate discontinuation from the study. If a subject is unable to continue participating in their assigned exercise intervention due to injury, illness, or other reason, they will still be eligible to complete all or part of the next scheduled study assessment(s) so long as they are able to do so within 7 days of discontinuation of the intervention, they have completed at least 4 exercise sessions since their last assessment was performed, and they remain able to participate in the upcoming lab-based (and MRI, as applicable) assessment. If a clinically significant finding is identified (including, but not limited to changes from baseline) after enrollment, the PI or qualified designee will determine if any change in participant management is needed. Any new clinically relevant finding will be reported as an adverse event (AE).

The data to be collected at the time of study intervention discontinuation will include the following:

- Date and reason for study intervention discontinuation
- Eligibility for and ability to perform upcoming study assessments

## 7.2 PARTICIPANT DISCONTINUATION/WITHDRAWAL FROM THE STUDY

Participants are free to withdraw from participation in the study at any time upon request.

An investigator may discontinue or withdraw a participant from the study for the following reasons:

- Pregnancy, unless written clearance to continue study participation is provided by the treating obstetrician or other physician managing the pregnancy
- Significant study intervention non-compliance

- If any clinical adverse event (AE) or other medical condition or situation occurs that precludes the subject's ability to participate in the study or such that continued participation in the study would not be in the best interest of the participant
- If the participant meets an exclusion criterion (either newly developed or not previously recognized) that precludes further study participation
- Participant unable to participate in study exercise program for 14 or more consecutive days.

The reason for participant discontinuation or withdrawal from the study will be recorded on the Case Report Form (CRF). Subjects who are randomized and drop out subsequently will not be replaced.

# 7.3 LOST TO FOLLOW-UP

A participant will be considered lost to follow-up if he or she fails to return for 4 scheduled visits or more than 14 days and is unable to be contacted by the study team.

The following actions must be taken if a participant fails to return for a required study visit:

- The study team will attempt to contact the participant and reschedule the missed visit as soon as possible and counsel the participant on the importance of maintaining the assigned visit schedule and ascertain if the participant wishes to and/or should continue in the study.
- Before a participant is deemed lost to follow-up, the investigator or designee will make every effort to regain contact with the participant (where possible, multiple telephone calls, emails, and/or text messages, and, a certified letter or equivalent may be sent to the participant's last known mailing address or local equivalent methods). These contact attempts will be documented in the participant's study file.
- Should the participant continue to be unreachable, he or she will be considered to have withdrawn from the study with a primary reason of lost to follow-up.

# 8 STUDY ASSESSMENTS AND PROCEDURES

# 8.1 EFFICACY ASSESSMENTS

**Methodology for measuring kinematic outcome:** <u>Net head acceleration</u> will be measured under direct force application, as well as standardized checking/blocking and voluntary soccer heading tasks at 4 time points (see Section 1.3). Our rationale for including loading conditions involving direct force application to the head as well as force application to the body with resultant transmission of inertial forces to the head (the simulated checking/ blocking task) is that concussions can, by definition, occur as a result of both of these mechanisms.<sup>51</sup> Voluntary soccer heading is being used as a second, more ecologically-valid direct loading condition. The order of testing will be randomized across subjects and practice trials will be performed for each task prior to data collection to familiarize subjects with each procedure.

## Loading conditions:

Standardized direct force application to the head in forced flexion, extension, lateral flexion, and <u>axial rotation</u>. We will use a customized laboratory testing apparatus to deliver controlled forces to the head via headgear connected to cable with in-line weight-drop, similar to as previously described by our group.<sup>19, 22</sup> The results of three trials will be averaged, in each direction during active isometric neck muscle pre-contraction (as if bracing in anticipation of being struck in the head during live play) as well as during relaxed upright sitting (to simulate an unanticipated blind-side impact)

conditions.<sup>19, 22</sup> An effort will be made to prevent subjects' knowledge of the precise timing of force application during the unanticipated condition using strategies such as wearing blinders and being exposed to ambient white noise. sEMG will be used as biofeedback to ensure appropriate neck muscle activation under both conditions, in a similar manner as in our previous pilot study.<sup>19</sup>

<u>Standardized impacts to the body</u> will be applied in the coronal plane by swinging a boxer's heavy punching bag suspended from the ceiling like a pendulum into the subject's lateral shoulder to simulate a sport checking or blocking event. Subjects will stand on a force plate in an athletic ready position so that the punching bag surface lightly touches the lateral aspect of their shoulder while hanging at rest. The punching bag will be drawn back in a standardized manner and released to elicit lateral flexion of the head and neck in the coronal plane upon impact to the shoulder (monitoring to ensure they are not displaced from the force plate). The results of three trials will be averaged during active pre-contraction of the neck and torso muscles (as if bracing in anticipation of being checked or blocked by an opponent during live play) as well as a relaxed upright standing (to simulate an unanticipated blind-side collision) conditions. An effort will again be made to prevent subjects' knowledge of the precise timing of force application during the unanticipated condition using strategies such as wearing blinders and being exposed to ambient white noise. sEMG will again be used to ensure appropriate neck muscle activation under both conditions, as above.

Standardized voluntary soccer headers will also be performed in the sagittal plane. One heading task will involve an active heading strategy with the goal of returning a soccer ball directly back in the direction from which it was pitched with as much velocity as possible, as if performing an attacking/offensive soccer header. A second heading task will be similar, except with a goal of gently directing the soccer ball to the ground in the direction from which it was pitched as if performing a glancing header to pass the ball to the foot of a teammate. For both tasks, a standard soccer ball inflated at the low end of the recommended inflation range) will be pitched to the subject from a soccer machine using similar methodology as has been applied in previous soccer heading studies.<sup>33, 35, 60, 74</sup> The results of three trials will be averaged under both heading strategies.

#### Net head acceleration measurement:

For each loading condition, net head acceleration will be measured using a kinematic camera system in a similar manner as previously described by our group.<sup>19, 22</sup> Subjects will wear optoelectronic markers (infrared emitting diodes) to allow tracking of head position in space and relative to the torso. Signal processing will be performed in a similar manner as previously described by our group to calculate head accelerations.<sup>19, 22</sup> For the checking/blocking and soccer heading tasks, subjects will wear a thin force sensor on their shoulder (for checking/blocking) or forehead (for soccer heading) to identify the time of impact between their shoulder/forehead and the punching bag/soccer ball, respectively. In the unlikely event that head kinematics patterns are not sufficiently stereotyped under a given loading condition for between-subject comparisons of AUC for the net head acceleration vector, which does not directly account for directionality, then we would decompose the net acceleration vector into its individual linear and angular components. Participants will also wear a second inertial measurement unit (body-worn sensor) on their heads to provide redundant head acceleration data as a back-up in the unlikely event that the kinematic camera data cannot be adequately resolved. Additionally, if the force sensing resistor used to identify the onset of head acceleration during the checking/blocking and soccer heading tasks unexpectedly fails for a given trial, we would alternatively use a similar technique to the one we have previously employed to identify the onset of head acceleration from the kinematic dataset via a trailing window.<sup>20, 46</sup>

**Methodology for measuring cervical muscle attributes:** Given that muscular adaptation to resistance exercise results in strength gains attributable to both improved neuromuscular recruitment and muscle hypertrophy, we will assess neck strength as well as cervical muscle volume and neuromuscular activation.

## **Neck strength**

Neck strength will be measured both in terms of the <u>peak force/moment</u> and <u>rate of force/torque</u> <u>development</u> in cervical flexion, extension, axial rotation, and lateral flexion using a customized laboratory testing apparatus similar to that previously described by Dr. Vasavada.<sup>80</sup> Measured force values will be converted to moments, in N·m, by multiplying each force value by the neck's estimated moment arm.

#### **Cervical muscle volume**

The <u>total cervical muscle volume</u> will be measured using magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) without contrast in a similar manner as previously described by Dr. Vasavada.<sup>89</sup> The volume of individual cervical muscles will be calculated by integrating the cross sectional areas (CSA's) across slices multiplied by slice center-to-center spacing and total cervical muscle volume will be calculated as the sum of volumes of the individual muscles.

Estimated cervical muscle volume will also be calculated at each assessment using a predictive regression equation developed by Dr. Vasavada's lab, which has been shown to accurately account for 87% of the variance in MRI-based total cervical muscle volume based on overall neck circumference and sex.<sup>89</sup> We will further refine this regression-based estimate by incorporating the sonographic anatomical cross-sectional areas (CSA's) of key cervical muscles measured at each assessment time point, with validation of the expanded model using our MRI-based cervical muscle volume measurements. We will assess the sternocleidomastoid (SCM), upper trapezius (TRAP), splenius capitis (SPL), and semispinalis capitis (SEMI) muscles, which we have previously studied with acceptable test-retest reliability (intra-class correlation coefficients, ICC= .91 to ICC= .99) and validity as compared to criterion-standard MRI CSA measurements (R= .76 to R= .97).<sup>21</sup> In the unlikely event that we are unable to adequately predict total cervical muscle volumes using Dr. Vasavada's regression equation,<sup>89</sup> we would alternatively assess cervical muscle hypertrophy using total neck circumference and the sonographic anatomical CSA measurements of the SCM, TRAP, SPL, and SEMI muscles.

#### **Cervical muscle activation**

We will quantify neuromuscular recruitment of the cervical muscles in terms of <u>agonist muscle</u> <u>activation</u> and <u>antagonist muscle inhibition</u>, using a similar surface electromyography (sEMG) protocol as during our pilot neck strengthening study.<sup>19</sup> Briefly, after standard skin preparation sEMG electrodes placed over the SCM, TRAP, SPL, and SEMI muscles will measure muscle activation during maximum voluntary contraction and under each loading condition. Raw sEMG data will be normalized with respect to each muscle's maximum amplitude, with <u>agonist muscle activation</u> and <u>antagonist muscle inhibition</u> calculated as the mean normalized sEMG amplitude (percentage of maximum) of the agonist and antagonist muscles during maximum voluntary contraction in each plane of motion. The mean activation level of each cervical muscle will also be measured during the loading tasks, allowing assessment of agonist activation and antagonist inhibition, as well as agonistantagonist co-contraction and muscle activation onset latencies during loading.

#### **Estimated cervical muscle stiffness**

We will estimate <u>cervical muscle stiffness</u> by imposing cervical muscle volume, head kinematics, and sEMG data onto Dr. Vasavada's multi-body dynamic neck model<sup>78</sup> in a similar manner as previously used to accurately estimate joint stiffness in an elbow model.<sup>36</sup>

All results will be collected by the study team through the conduct of this research study and are for research purposes only. As such, no medical record review will be performed and no study results will routinely be reported to participants. Individual participant or parent/guardian requests for study results will be considered by the PI on a case-by-case basis and requested information will be provided at the discretion of the PI when feasible for the study team to do so.

## 8.2 SAFETY AND OTHER ASSESSMENTS

Potential participants meeting any exclusion criteria (See Section 5.2), either during the initial phone screen or the final in-person screening assessment which includes a brief screening physical examination, may potentially be at slightly increased risk for injury as a result of study participation and so out of caution will be excluded from study participation.

Potential participants with disqualifying findings on the screening physical examination (and their parent/guardian if they are a minor) will be notified verbally at the time of the screening examination, and will subsequently be notified in writing, of the specific disqualifying physical exam finding. They will be advised to follow up with their primary care physician.

Participants will be asked at the beginning of each study-associated exercise and testing session whether they have experienced any AE's as described below in Section 8.3.4. Participants will also be observed by the study team during each study visit for AE's.

Any moderate or severe AE's will be reported to the PI, or his designee, for determination of the need for medical follow up. If immediate emergent medical care is deemed necessary 9-1-1 will be called. If urgent, non-immediate, medical care is deemed necessary the participant will be referred to a local Emergency Department or Urgent Care Center via their own private transportation. If non-urgent medical care is deemed necessary, the participant will be referred to their own physician's office. If no medical care is deemed necessary, the participant will be advised to monitor their condition and contact their own physician if their condition worsens prior to their next study visit.

All study MRI's will be reviewed by the Study Radiologist for quality control purposes, as well as to screen for incidental findings of clinical significance. If incidental clinically significant findings are identified, the Study Radiologist will note them in the research MRI report and will alert the PI (or his designee if he is unavailable) to their presence. The PI (or his designee) will subsequently contact the subject (and their parent/guardian if they are a minor) by phone to notify them of the incidental finding and advise them to follow up with their primary care physician. In addition, a written notification of the incidental finding, including a copy of the research MRI report, will be sent to the subject, as well as to their primary care physician providing them medical care if this is their preference.

## 8.3 ADVERSE EVENTS AND SERIOUS ADVERSE EVENTS

# 8.3.1 DEFINITION OF ADVERSE EVENTS (AE)

Adverse event means any untoward medical occurrence associated with the use of an intervention in humans, whether or not considered intervention-related (21 CFR 312.32 (a)).

Note: delayed onset muscle soreness is a normal, anticipated occurrence following resistance exercise training and is therefore not considered an AE for the purposes of this study.

## 8.3.2 DEFINITION OF SERIOUS ADVERSE EVENTS (SAE)

An adverse event (AE) or suspected adverse reaction is considered "serious" if, in the view of the investigator or his designee, it results in any of the following outcomes: death, a life-threatening adverse event, inpatient hospitalization or prolongation of existing hospitalization, a persistent or significant incapacity or substantial disruption of the ability to conduct normal life functions, or a congenital anomaly/birth defect. Important medical events that may not result in death, be life-threatening, or require hospitalization may be considered serious when, based upon appropriate medical judgment, they may jeopardize the participant and may require medical or surgical intervention to prevent one of the outcomes listed in this definition. Examples of such medical events include allergic bronchospasm requiring intensive treatment in an emergency room or at home, blood dyscrasias or convulsions that do not result in inpatient hospitalization, or the development of drug dependency or drug abuse.

# 8.3.2.1 SEVERITY OF EVENT

For adverse events (AEs) not included in the protocol defined grading system, the following guidelines will be used to describe severity.

- **Mild** Events require minimal or no treatment and do not interfere with the participant's daily activities.
- **Moderate** Events result in a low level of inconvenience or concern with the therapeutic measures. Moderate events may cause some interference with functioning.
- Severe Events interrupt a participant's usual daily activity and may require systemic drug therapy or other treatment. Severe events are usually potentially life-threatening or incapacitating. Of note, the term "severe" does not necessarily equate to "serious".

# 8.3.2.2 RELATIONSHIP TO STUDY INTERVENTION

All adverse events (AEs) will have their relationship to study intervention assessed by the PI, or his designee, based on temporal relationship and his/her clinical judgment. The degree of certainty about causality will be graded using the categories below. The study-assigned exercise program will always be considered suspect.

- **Definitely Related** There is clear evidence to suggest a causal relationship, and other possible contributing factors can be ruled out. The clinical event occurs in a plausible time relationship to study intervention administration and cannot be explained by concurrent disease or other exposure/event (e.gs., drug, chemical, toxin, pathogen, activity, environmental factor, traumatic event). The response to withdrawal of the study intervention (dechallenge) should be clinically plausible. If medically appropriate, a rechallenge procedure may be employed, with a positive response to rechallenge considered as confirmation of definite relatedness.
- **Probably Related** There is evidence to suggest a causal relationship, and the influence of other factors is unlikely. The clinical event occurs within a reasonable time after administration of the study intervention, is unlikely to be attributed to concurrent disease or other or other exposure/event, and follows a clinically reasonable response on withdrawal (dechallenge). Rechallenge information is not required to fulfill this definition.
- **Potentially Related** There is some evidence to suggest a causal relationship (e.g., the event occurred within a reasonable time after administration of the trial medication). However, other factors may have contributed to the event (e.g., the participant's clinical condition, other concomitant events). Although an AE may rate only as "possibly related" soon after discovery, it

can be flagged as requiring more information and later be upgraded to "probably related" or "definitely related", as appropriate.

- Unlikely to be related A clinical event whose temporal relationship to study intervention administration makes a causal relationship improbable (e.g., the event did not occur within a reasonable time after administration of the study intervention) and in which other disease or exposure/event provides plausible explanations (e.g., the participant's clinical condition, other concomitant treatments).
- Not Related The AE is completely independent of study intervention administration, and/or evidence exists that the event is definitely related to another etiology. There must be an alternative, definitive etiology documented by the clinician.

# 8.3.2.3 EXPECTEDNESS

The PI, or his designee, will be responsible for determining whether an adverse event (AE) is expected or unexpected. An AE will be considered unexpected if the nature, severity, or frequency of the event is not consistent with the risk information previously described in Section 2.3.1, or if it is not known to be associated with any non-disqualifying underlying disease, disorder, or condition affecting the participant.

# 8.3.3 TIME PERIOD AND FREQUENCY FOR EVENT ASSESSMENT AND FOLLOW-UP

The occurrence of an adverse event (AE) or serious adverse event (SAE) may come to the attention of study personnel during study visits or if communicated to the study team between visits. The study team will not prompt participants for any specific solicited AE's, but will ask about unsolicited AE's at each study visit using the following general question: "Have you noticed any new illness, injury, or other health-related concerns since your last study visit?"

All AEs including local and systemic reactions not meeting the criteria for SAEs will be captured on the appropriate case report form (CRF). Information to be collected includes event description, time of onset, clinician's assessment of severity, relationship to study intervention (assessed by the PI or his designee with the training and authority to make a diagnosis), and date of resolution/stabilization of the event. All AEs occurring while on study must be documented appropriately regardless of relationship. All AEs will be followed to adequate resolution.

Any medical condition that is present at the time that the participant is screened will be considered as baseline and not reported as an AE. However, if the study participant's condition deteriorates at any time during the study, it will be recorded as an AE.

Changes in the severity of an AE will be documented to allow an assessment of the duration of the event at each level of severity to be performed. AEs characterized as intermittent require documentation of onset and duration of each episode.

The study coordinator or project manager will record all reportable events with start dates occurring any time after informed consent is obtained until 7 (for non-serious AEs) or 30 days (for SAEs) after the last day of study participation. At each study visit, the investigator will inquire about the occurrence of AE/SAEs since the last visit. Events will be followed for outcome information until resolution or stabilization.

## 8.3.4 ADVERSE EVENT REPORTING

AE and SAE reporting to IRBMED will occur per IRBMED standard reporting guidelines. Reporting to the DSMB will occur in conjunction with annual DSMB meetings as scheduled per the DSMB Charter. Additionally, any serious adverse event deemed possibly, probably, or definitely related to study procedures, or were IRBMED standard reporting guidelines otherwise necessitate more immediate reporting, will be reported to the DSMB on the same schedule as reports to IRBMED or within 14 calendar days of identification, whichever occurs first.

Note that if a series of related, expected AE's of moderate severity appear to be occurring at a frequency greater than previously known or expected, the study team will report this to IRBMED and the DSMB within 14 calendar days of identifying the trend.

Unrelated, non-serious AE's (expected or unexpected) will not be reported to IRBMED or the DSMB unless there appears to be a trend of events occurring at a frequency greater than previously known or expected, in which case the study team will also report this trend to IRB-MED as well as the DSMB within 14 calendar days of identifying the trend.

# 8.3.5 SERIOUS ADVERSE EVENT REPORTING

Related, unexpected SAE's resulting in death or any life-threatening outcome will be reported to IRBMED and the DSMB within 7 calendar days of becoming aware of the event. Other related, unexpected SAE's will be reported to IRB-MED and the DSMB within 14 days of becoming aware of the event.

Unrelated, unexpected SAE's will be reported per standard IRBMED guidelines and in conjunction with regularly scheduled DSMB meetings.

Note, there are no related, expected SAE's associated with this study.

## 8.3.6 REPORTING EVENTS TO PARTICIPANTS

If the study team becomes aware of new knowledge regarding related, unexpected AE's/SAE's that may affect other current or future study participants, the study team will seek input from the DSMB as to whether/how to communicate this information to other current participants and/or whether/how to amend the IRB-MED approved informed consent documents for future participants. Re-consenting will be performed for subjects actively involved in the study if deemed necessary by the PI, IRMBED, or DSMB.

## 8.3.7 EVENTS OF SPECIAL INTEREST

N/A

#### 8.3.8 REPORTING OF PREGNANCY

If a study participant becomes pregnant during the study period, or becomes aware of a previously unidentified pre-existing pregnancy during the study period, they will be permitted to continue study participation at the discretion of their treating obstetrician (or other physician responsible for managing their pregnancy, e.g., family medicine physician) and a letter of clearance for ongoing study participation will be requested to document this clearance.

## 8.4 UNANTICIPATED PROBLEMS

## 8.4.1 DEFINITION OF UNANTICIPATED PROBLEMS (UP)

The Office for Human Research Protections (OHRP) considers unanticipated problems involving risks to participants or others to include, in general, any incident, experience, or outcome that meets <u>all</u> of the following criteria:

- Unexpected in terms of nature, severity, or frequency given (a) the research procedures that are described in the protocol-related documents, such as the Institutional Review Board (IRB)approved research protocol and informed consent document; and (b) the characteristics of the participant population being studied;
- Related or possibly related to participation in the research ("possibly related" means there is a reasonable possibility that the incident, experience, or outcome may have been caused by the procedures involved in the research); and
- Suggests that the research places participants or others at a greater risk of harm (including physical, psychological, economic, or social harm) than was previously known or recognized.

## 8.4.2 UNANTICIPATED PROBLEM REPORTING

The study team will report unanticipated problems (UPs) to IRBMED. The UP report will include the following information:

- Protocol identifying information: protocol title and number, PI's name, and the IRB project number;
- A detailed description of the event, incident, experience, or outcome;
- An explanation of the basis for determining that the event, incident, experience, or outcome represents an UP;
- A description of any changes to the protocol or other corrective actions that have been taken or are proposed in response to the UP.

To satisfy the requirement for prompt reporting, UPs will be reported using the following timeline:

- UPs that are actual AEs or SAEs will be reported to IRB-MED as described above in Section 8.3.5-8.3.6.
- Any other UPs representing newly identified possibility of previously unsuspected harm will be reported to IRB-MED within 14 days of the study team becoming aware of the problem.
- If IRB-MED concurs that a UP exists, the UP will be reported to appropriate institutional and external officials as required under IRB-MED's reporting policies and procedures.

## 8.4.3 REPORTING UNANTICIPATED PROBLEMS TO PARTICIPANTS

If UPs are identified that may affect current or future study participants, the study team will seek input from the DSMB as to whether/how to communicate this information to current participants and/or whether/how to amend the IRBMED approved informed consent documents for future participants.

## 9 STATISTICAL CONSIDERATIONS

#### 9.1 STATISTICAL HYPOTHESES

#### **Primary Efficacy Endpoint:**

There will be evidence of a dose-response effect for neck strengthening exercise on net head acceleration under direct load application proportional to the volume load of exercise.

#### **Secondary Efficacy Endpoint:**

There will be evidence of a dose-response effect for neck strengthening exercise on net head acceleration under indirect load application proportional to the volume load of exercise.

## 9.2 SAMPLE SIZE DETERMINATION

Our power calculation is based on AIM 1. Assuming net head acceleration (on the logarithmic scale) will follow linear trends over time, then our power calculation is based on comparison of the slope of this change, which has 9/14 of the variance, i.e., 36% less variance, than the underlying log(net head acceleration) measurements. As a result, the standardized effect size (Cohen's d value) of the slope is approximately 1.25 times greater than that of the underlying log(net head acceleration) measurements. Based on our own pilot data,<sup>19</sup> we expect observed standardized effect sizes to be between .6 and 1.0 for log(net head acceleration), depending on the variability of the individual measurements across the 4 directions of motion. These values correspond with a 20% overall reduction in un-transformed net head acceleration. A total of 30 subjects in each exercise group (control and high intensity), will provide power of between .83 [for standardized effect size for log (net head acceleration) of .6 and 1.0 [for standardized effect size in the population. To account for the possibility of a drop-out rate of up to 20%, we will plan to enroll up to a total of 72 subjects.

#### 9.3 POPULATIONS FOR ANALYSES

All participants will be included in the analysis, including participants contributing only a partial data set. The only exception would be in cases where the PI, study statistician, and Exercise Physiology/Engineering/Radiology study Col-lead (for volume-load vs. lab-based vs. imaging-based data) agree there is legitimate threat to the validity of data collected in any individual participant due to technical error not identified at the time of assessment that cannot be resolved through post-processing (e.g., incorrect gain settings leading to signal saturation or failure of MRI field of view not covering the full extent of cervical musculature to be measured).

## 9.4 STATISTICAL ANALYSES

## 9.4.1 GENERAL APPROACH

Prior to the analysis, all data will be examined and transformed as necessary to achieve approximate normality. Descriptive statistics will be used to characterize the distribution, central tendency (mean, median), and variability (standard deviation, range, interquartile range) of each continuous variable. All subjects will be included in the analysis and an alpha of .05 will be considered significant for statistical testing.

## 9.4.2 ANALYSIS OF THE PRIMARY AND SECONDARY EFFICACY ENDPOINTS

We expect a percentage reduction in net head acceleration as the volume load of exercise performed increases over the 12 week exercise program, so we will assess net head acceleration on a logarithmic scale to allow us to model and detect a constant change. For example, a 20% reduction in net head acceleration corresponds to a difference of log(.8) on the log-scale, regardless of the initial value of net head acceleration. We will use linear mixed models to describe the longitudinal changes in log(net head acceleration) over the volume loads of exercise performed at each of the four study time points, and to test the significance of this change across the three exercise groups.

## 9.4.3 SAFETY ANALYSES

AEs and SAEs will be summarized by severity, relatedness, and expectedness using counts, with each AE counting only one time for a given participant, and will be presented in a table format.

# 9.4.4 BASELINE DESCRIPTIVE STATISTICS

Intervention groups will be compared on baseline characteristics (including demographics, cervical muscle attributes, and net head accelerations under each loading condition) to assess for the presence of any baseline differences between the groups before participation in the study-assigned exercise intervention. Categorical and continuous variables will be assessed using chi-square tables and ANOVA, respectively.

## 9.4.5 PLANNED INTERIM ANALYSES

Consistent with the original proposal submitted to and funded by NIH, a blinded interim analyses will be performed by the study statistician in Study Year 3, or upon protocol completion by 15 participants in the treatment group, whichever marker of the study mid-point comes first. The results of the interim analysis will be reviewed by the PI and shared with the study team for dissemination as preliminary study results, but will not be used to halt ongoing study activities.

In addition, the strength of the estimated total cervical muscle volume prediction algorithm with respect to MRI-based measured total cervical muscle volume will be reassessed by the study statistician on an ongoing basis throughout the study period. Pending determination of the strength of the estimated total cervical muscle prediction algorithm, the MRI portion of the study protocol will be amended to minimize the time and expense associated with MRI acquisition and analysis for the remainder of the study.

In the event that an immediate DSMB review is required in response to any AE(s), SAE(s), or UP(s) (see Sections 8.3.5-8.3.6 and 8.4.2), new study enrollment will temporarily be suspended until the DSMB has met and assessed the need for ongoing modification to study enrollment and/or study intervention activities. Ongoing study activities will continue without interruption unless an unexpected, study-related SAE occurs, in which case ongoing study activities associated with the portion of the study protocol deemed to have caused the SAE will be temporarily suspended pending DSMB review and recommendations.

## 9.4.6 SUB-GROUP ANALYSES

We will include sex as a covariate in the statistical models, as well as explore possible interactions between sex and other independent variables, to identify any sex-based differences in the relationship between exercise volume load and the net head acceleration outcome.

## 9.4.7 TABULATION OF INDIVIDUAL PARTICIPANT DATA

N/A

## 9.4.8 EXPLORATORY ANALYSES

We will construct linear models with net head acceleration as the outcome and combinations of neck strength and/or cervical muscle volume as the predictor(s) for direct and indirect force application under both the anticipated and unanticipated conditions. Rather than comparing the B coefficients of the neck strength and cervical muscle volume terms, which are scale-dependent, we will instead quantify the impact of each cervical covariate on net head acceleration by calculating the differences in  $R^2$  values of statistical models with vs. without each cervical variable. These differential  $R^2$  values indicate the importance of each cervical variable in the model, accounting for the other. There is no known analytic solution in the statistical literature to confirm statistically whether one differential R<sup>2</sup> value is higher than the other unless the null hypothesis is zero differential R<sup>2</sup>,<sup>14</sup> which is not the case here. Instead, we will use the bootstrap as a nonparametric tool to assess the variability in the differential R<sup>2</sup> values.<sup>24</sup> By bootstrapping the subjects a sufficient number of times, we can obtain a set of differential R<sup>2</sup> values and use them to construct 95% confidence intervals around the differential R<sup>2</sup> values of both cervical variables during the anticipated and unanticipated conditions. If the confidence intervals are non-overlapping, we will conclude that the cervical variable associated with a greater decline in R<sup>2</sup> value upon its removal from the full model is significantly more impactful on the net head acceleration for the given anticipation condition.

We will compare the magnitudes of the B coefficients associated with each cervical independent variable at each time point in the linear mixed model analyses predicting log(net head acceleration). The effect of neck strengthening exercise on the exploratory net head acceleration during soccer heading outcomes will be analyzed using a similar statistical analysis plan as described above in Section 9.4.2.

## **10 SUPPORTING DOCUMENTATION AND OPERATIONAL CONSIDERATIONS**

## 10.1 REGULATORY, ETHICAL, AND STUDY OVERSIGHT CONSIDERATIONS

## **10.1.1 INFORMED CONSENT PROCESS**

## 10.1.1.1 CONSENT/ASSENT AND OTHER INFORMATIONAL DOCUMENTS PROVIDED TO PARTICIPANTS

IRB-MED-approved informed consent forms describing in detail the study intervention, study procedures, and risks will be given to each participant and written documentation of informed consent (or assent with parent/guardian consent) will be obtained prior to starting intervention/administering study intervention.

#### **10.1.1.2 CONSENT PROCEDURES AND DOCUMENTATION**

A waiver of informed consent for screening purposes will be obtained from IRB-MED to allow potential participants to be screened for study eligibility prior to undergoing the informed consent process in an effort to save ineligible individuals from the inconvenience of unnecessary study-related procedures if they are not eligible to participate in the study. Those individuals who are eligible and interested in participating in the study will complete the informed consent (or assent with parent/guardian consent for minors) process in person with the PI, or a designated member of the study team.

Informed consent (or assent with parent/guardian consent for minors) is a process that is initiated prior to the individual's agreeing to participate in the study and continues throughout the individual's study participation. Consent/Assent forms will be UM Institutional Review Board (IRBMED)-approved and the participant (and parent/guardian for minors) will be asked to read and review the document. A member of the study team will explain the research study to the participant (and parent/guardian for minors) and answer any questions that may arise. A verbal explanation will be provided in terms suited to the participant's (and parent's/guardian's for minors) comprehension of the purposes, procedures, and potential risks of the study and of their rights as research participants. Participants (and parent/guardian for minors) will have the opportunity to carefully review the written consent form and discuss/ask questions prior to signing. All participants, regardless of age, will have the opportunity to discuss the study with their family or surrogates or think about it prior to agreeing to participate. The participant will sign the informed consent document (or assent document with the parent/guardian signing the consent document) prior to any procedures being done specifically for the study. Participants (and their parent/guardian for minors) will be informed that participation is voluntary and that they may withdraw from the study at any time, without prejudice. A copy of the informed consent/assent document will be given to the participants for their records. The informed consent/assent process will be conducted and documented in the source document (including the date), and the form signed, before the participant undergoes any study-specific procedures. The rights and welfare of the participants (and their parent/guardian for minors) will be protected by emphasizing to them that the quality of their medical care will not be adversely affected if they decline to participate in this study. Any children who become adults during the course of the study will not be re-consented after their 18<sup>th</sup> birthday.

#### **10.1.2 STUDY DISCONTINUATION AND CLOSURE**

Participant confidentiality and privacy are strictly held in trust by the study team. This confidentiality is extended to cover biological imaging results in addition to the clinical information relating to participants. Therefore, the study protocol, documentation, data, and all other information generated will be held in strict confidence. No information concerning the study or the data will be released to any unauthorized third party without prior written approval of IRB-MED.

All research activities will be conducted in as private a setting as possible.

The study monitor, other authorized representatives of the UM Institutional Review Board (IRB-MED), members of the DSMB, or other regulatory agencies may inspect all documents and records required to be maintained by the investigator for the participants in this study. The study site will permit access to such records.

The study participant's contact information and research data, which is for purposes of statistical analysis and scientific reporting, will be securely stored at the University of Michigan for internal use during the study. At the end of the study, all records will continue to be kept in a secure location for as long a period as dictated by IRB-MED and Institutional policies. At the end of the study, the study database will be de-identified and stored at the University of Michigan.

The study team will not apply for a Certificate of Confidentiality for this study.

# 10.1.3 FUTURE USE OF STORED SPECIMENS AND DATA

Data collected for this study will be analyzed and stored at the University of Michigan. After the study is completed, the data will be de-identified and archived for potential use in the future by the study team. Permission to store de-identified data will be included in the informed consent. A copy of MRI data will also be maintained in the research section of participants' electronic medical records at the University of Michigan/Michigan Medicine.

When the study is completed, the study team will maintain access to de-identified study data.

# 10.1.4 KEY ROLES AND STUDY GOVERNANCE

Principal Investigator	DSMB Safety Officer
James T. Eckner, M.D., M.S.	Hugh J.L. Garton, M.D., M.H.Sc.
Associate Professor	Professor
University of Michigan	University of Michigan
Dept. of PM&R	Dept. of Neurosurgery
325 E. Eisenhower Pkwy	1500 E. Medical Center Drive
Ann Arbor MI 48108	SPC 5338
	Ann Arbor, MI 48109
734-936-7200	734-936-7010
jeckner@med.umich.edu	hgarton@med.umich.edu

## 10.1.5 SAFETY OVERSIGHT

Safety oversight will be under the direction of a Data and Safety Monitoring Board (DSMB) composed of 3 individuals with the appropriate expertise, including biostatistics, pediatric neurosurgery, and pediatric sports medicine. Members of the DSMB will be independent from the study conduct and free of conflict of interest. The DSMB will meet annually to assess safety and efficacy data on each arm of the study. The DMSB will operate under the rules of an approved charter that will be written and reviewed at the organizational meeting of the DSMB. At this time, each data element that the DSMB needs to assess will be clearly defined. The DSMB will provide its input to the PI and the National Institutes of Health Program Officer assigned to this project.

# 10.1.6 CLINICAL MONITORING

Clinical study monitoring will be conducted to ensure that the rights and well-being of trial participants are protected, that the reported trial data are accurate, complete, and verifiable, and that the conduct of the trial is in compliance with the currently approved protocol/amendment(s), with good clinical practice, and with applicable regulatory requirement(s).

Monitoring for this study will be performed by the Michigan Institute of Clinical and Health Research. Clinical monitor responsibilities will include:

- Review of study documents, creation of the Clinical Monitoring Plan (CMP), and on-site study initiation visit prior to the start of enrollment
  - The CMP will describe in detail who will conduct the monitoring, at what frequency monitoring will be done, at what level of detail monitoring will be performed, and the distribution of monitoring reports.
- On-site and/or virtual interim data and regulatory monitoring visits approximately every 6 months throughout the trial with review of approximately 50% of enrolled participants' charts.
- On-site study close-out visit upon completion of the trial.
- Provision of copies of monitoring reports to the PI and study coordinator/program manager within 14 days of visit.
- Planned independent audits will not be conducted outside of the CMP, although it is possible that a random audit could be scheduled by the University of Michigan Office of Research Compliance Review (OCRC).

# 10.1.7 QUALITY ASSURANCE AND QUALITY CONTROL

Quality control (QC) procedures will be implemented beginning with the data entry system and data QC checks that will be run on the database will be generated. Any missing data or data anomalies will be reviewed for clarification/resolution.

Following written Standard Operating Procedures (SOPs), the monitors will verify that the clinical trial is conducted and data are generated and biological imaging is collected, documented (recorded), and reported in compliance with the protocol, IRB guidelines, and the Human Research Protection Program (HRPP) Operations Manual.

The investigational site will provide direct access to all trial related sites, source data/documents, and reports for the purpose of monitoring and auditing by the sponsor, and inspection by local and regulatory authorities.

## 10.1.8 DATA HANDLING AND RECORD KEEPING

#### 10.1.8.1 DATA COLLECTION AND MANAGEMENT RESPONSIBILITIES

Data collection is the responsibility of the study team at the University of Michigan under the supervision of the PI. The investigator is responsible for ensuring the accuracy, completeness, legibility, and timeliness of the data reported.

All source documents will be completed in a neat, legible manner to ensure accurate interpretation of data.

Hardcopies of the study visit worksheets will be provided for use as source document worksheets for recording data for each participant enrolled in the study. Data recorded in the electronic case report form (eCRF) derived from source documents will be consistent with the data recorded on the source documents.

Clinical data (including adverse events (AEs) and expected adverse reactions data) will be entered into REDCap, a secure, HIPAA compliant data capture system provided by MICHR. The data system includes password protection and internal quality checks, such as automatic range checks, to identify data that appear inconsistent, incomplete, or inaccurate. Clinical data will be entered directly from the source documents.

#### **10.1.8.2 STUDY RECORDS RETENTION**

Study documents will be retained for a minimum of 3 years from the date of final ClinicalTrials.gov reporting. These documents will be retained for a longer period, however, if required by local regulations.

#### **10.1.9 PROTOCOL DEVIATIONS**

A protocol deviation is any noncompliance with the clinical trial protocol document or Manual of Procedures (MOP) requirements. The noncompliance may be either on the part of the participant, the investigator, or the study site staff. As a result of deviations, corrective actions will be developed by the site and implemented promptly.

It is the responsibility of the PI to use continuous vigilance to identify and report deviations not affecting participant safety as ORIOs in compliance with the current standard ORIO reporting guidance issued by IRBMED.

#### 10.1.10 PUBLICATION AND DATA SHARING POLICY

This study will be conducted in accordance with the following publication and data sharing policies and regulations:

National Institutes of Health (NIH) Public Access Policy, which ensures that the public has access to the published results of NIH funded research. It requires scientists to submit final peer-reviewed journal

manuscripts that arise from NIH funds to the digital archive <u>PubMed Central</u> upon acceptance for publication.

This study will comply with the NIH Data Sharing Policy and Policy on the Dissemination of NIH-Funded Clinical Trial Information and the Clinical Trials Registration and Results Information Submission rule. As such, this trial will be registered at ClinicalTrials.gov, and results information from this trial will be submitted to ClinicalTrials.gov. In addition, every attempt will be made to publish results in peerreviewed journals. Data from this study may be requested from other researchers 5 years after the completion of the primary endpoint by contacting the PI.

## 10.1.11 CONFLICT OF INTEREST POLICY

The independence of this study from any actual or perceived influence, such as by the pharmaceutical industry, is critical. Therefore, any actual conflict of interest of persons who have a role in the design, conduct, analysis, publication, or any aspect of this trial will be disclosed and managed. Furthermore, persons who have a perceived conflict of interest will be required to have such conflicts managed in a way that is appropriate to their participation in the design and conduct of this trial. The study leadership in conjunction with IRB-MED has established policies and procedures for all study group members to disclose all conflicts of interest and will establish a mechanism for the management of all reported dualities of interest.

## **10.2 ADDITIONAL CONSIDERATIONS**

N/A

#### **10.3 ABBREVIATIONS**

The list below includes abbreviations utilized in this template. However, this list should be customized for each protocol (i.e., abbreviations not used should be removed and new abbreviations used should be added to this list).

AE	Adverse Event
AUC	Area Under the Curve
CFR	Code of Federal Regulations
CMP	Clinical Monitoring Plan
CONSORT	Consolidated Standards of Reporting Trials
CRF	Case Report Form
CSA	Cross-Sectional Area
CSCS	Certified Strength and Conditioning Specialist
DSMB	Data Safety Monitoring Board
eCRF	Electronic Case Report Forms
EMG	Electromyography
FFR	Federal Financial Report
GLP	Good Laboratory Practices
GMP	Good Manufacturing Practices
НІТ	Head Impact Telemetry
HRPP	Human Research Protection Program
ICC	Intra-Class Correlation Coefficients
IRB	Institutional Review Board
MOP	Manual of Procedures
MRI	Magnetic Resonance Imaging
NCT	National Clinical Trial
NIH	National Institutes of Health
OHRP	Office for Human Research Protections
PI	Principal Investigator
QC	Quality Control
SAE	Serious Adverse Event
SCM	Sternocleidomastoid
sEMG	Surface electromyography
SEMI	Semispinalis Capitis
SOA	Schedule of Activities
SOP	Standard Operating Procedure
SPL	Splenius Capitis
SRC	Sport and Recreation Related Concussion
TRAP	Upper Trapezius
UM	University of Michigan
UP	Unanticipated Problem
US	United States
WSTC	Wayne State Tolerance Curve

## 10.4 PROTOCOL AMENDMENT HISTORY

The table below is intended to capture changes of IRB-approved versions of the protocol, including a description of the change and rationale. A Summary of Changes table for the current amendment is located in the Protocol Title Page.

Version	Date	Description of Change	Brief Rationale
1.0	5/22/2019	Additional discussion of risk	Per IRB Request
1.1	5/22/2019	Expansion of exclusion criteria for screening exam	Per PM&R Spine Physician recommendation
1.2	10/19/22	Permission for virtual IMV's	Per MICHR Monitor request
2.2	12/20/22	Removed low-volume exercise group from protocol	Reduced enrollment following COVID pandemic
2.2	12/20/22	Clarifications to criteria defining protocol deviation- updating number of days that create a deviation.	Reducing documentation burden associated with schedule deviations
	+		

# **11 REFERENCES**

- 1. Beckwith JG, Greenwald RM, Chu JJ. Measuring head kinematics in football: correlation between the head impact telemetry system and Hybrid III headform. Ann Biomed Eng. 2012;40(1):237-48. PMC3248620
- 2. Blanpied P, Smidt GL. The difference in stiffness of the active plantarflexors between young and elderly human females. J Gerontol. 1993;48(2):M58-63. PMID8473695
- 3. Bretzin AC, Mansell JL, Tierney RT, McDevitt JK. Sex Differences in Anthropometrics and Heading Kinematics Among Division I Soccer Athletes. Sports health. 2017;9(2):168-73. PMC5349392
- 4. **Broglio SP**, **Eckner JT**, Kutcher JS. Field-based measures of head impacts in high school football athletes. Curr Opin Pediatr. 2012;24(6):702-8. PMC3643806
- 5. **Broglio SP**, Sosnoff JJ, Shin S, **He X**, Alcaraz C, Zimmerman J. Head impacts during high school football: a biomechanical assessment. J Athl Train. 2009;44(4):342-9. PMC2707068
- Broglio SP, Surma T, Ashton-Miller JA. High school and collegiate football athlete concussions: a biomechanical review. Ann Biomed Eng. 2012;40(1):37-46. PMID21994058
- Brolinson PG, Manoogian S, McNeely D, Goforth M, Greenwald R, Duma S. Analysis of linear head accelerations from collegiate football impacts. Curr Sports Med Rep. 2006;5(1):23-8. PMID16483513
- 8. Burnett AF, Naumann FL, Price RS, Sanders RH. A comparison of training methods to increase neck muscle strength. Work. 2005;25(3):205-10. PMID16179769
- 9. Caccese JB, Buckley TA, Tierney RT, Arbogast KB, Rose WC, Glutting JJ, Kaminski TW. Head and neck size and neck strength predict linear and rotational acceleration during purposeful soccer heading. Sports Biomech. 2017:1-15. PMID29037111
- Caswell SV, York M, Ambegaonkar JP, Caswell AM, Cortes N. Neck Strengthening Recommendations for Concussion Risk Reduction in Youth Sport. Int J Athl Therapy & Train. 2014;19(6):22-7.
- 11. Clark BC. In vivo alterations in skeletal muscle form and function after disuse atrophy. Med Sci Sports Exerc. 2009;41(10):1869-75. PMID19727027
- Collins CL, Fletcher EN, Fields SK, Kluchurosky L, Rohrkemper MK, Comstock RD, Cantu RC. Neck strength: a protective factor reducing risk for concussion in high school sports. J Prim Prev. 2014;35(5):309-19. PMID24930131
- Conley MS, Stone MH, Nimmons M, Dudley GA. Specificity of resistance training responses in neck muscle size and strength. Eur J Appl Physiol Occup Physiol. 1997;75(5):443-8. PMID9189733
- 14. Cramer JS. Mean and variance of R2 in small and moderate samples. J Econom. 1987;35(2):253-66.
- Crisco JJ, Chu JJ, Greenwald RM. An algorithm for estimating acceleration magnitude and impact location using multiple nonorthogonal single-axis accelerometers. J Biomech Eng. 2004;126(6):849-54. PMID15796345
- 16. Cui L, Perreault EJ, Maas H, Sandercock TG. Modeling short-range stiffness of feline lower hindlimb muscles. J Biomech. 2008;41(9):1945-52. PMID18499113

- 17. Dewald JP, Pope PS, Given JD, Buchanan TS, Rymer WZ. Abnormal muscle coactivation patterns during isometric torque generation at the elbow and shoulder in hemiparetic subjects. Brain. 1995;118 (2):495-510. PMID7735890
- Duma SM, Manoogian SJ, Bussone WR, Brolinson PG, Goforth MW, Donnenwerth JJ, Greenwald RM, Chu JJ, Crisco JJ. Analysis of real-time head accelerations in collegiate football players. Clin J Sport Med. 2005;15(1):3-8. PMID15654184
- 19. Eckner JT, Goshtasbi A, Curtis K, Kapshai A, Myyra E, Franco LM, Favre M, Jacobson JA, Ashton-Miller JA. Feasibility and effect of cervical resistance training on head kinematics in youth athletes: a pilot study. Am J Phys Med Rehabil. 2017:in press.
- Eckner JT, Lipps DB, Kim H, Richardson JK, Ashton-Miller JA. Can a clinical test of reaction time predict a functional head-protective response? Med Sci Sports Exerc. 2011;43(3):382-7. PMC4537056
- Eckner JT, O'Connor KL, Lipps DB, Yablon C, Franco LM, Ashton-Miller JA, Jacobson JA. Reliability and validity of sonographic cervical muscle cross-sectional area measurements. 2017 American Institute of Ultrasound in Medicine Convention; 2017; Orlando, FL. March 25-29, 2017.
- 22. Eckner JT, Oh YK, Joshi MS, Richardson JK, Ashton-Miller JA. Effect of neck muscle strength and anticipatory cervical muscle activation on the kinematic response of the head to impulsive loads. Am J Sports Med. 2014;42(3):566-76. PMC4344320
- 23. Eckner JT, Sabin M, Kutcher JS, Broglio SP. No evidence for a cumulative impact effect on concussion injury threshold. J Neurotrauma. 2011;28(10):2079-90. PMC4346375
- 24. Efron B, Tibshirani R. An Introduction to the Bootstrap. Boca Raton, London, New York, and Washington D.C.: Chapman and Hall/CRC; 1993.
- 25. Folland JP, Williams AG. The adaptations to strength training: morphological and neurological contributions to increased strength. Sports Med. 2007;37(2):145-68. PMID17241104
- 26. Gajdosik RL. Passive extensibility of skeletal muscle: review of the literature with clinical implications. Clin Biomech (Bristol, Avon). 2001;16(2):87-101. PMID11222927
- 27. Geary K, Green BS, Delahunt E. Effects of neck strength training on isometric neck strength in rugby union players. Clin J Sport Med. 2014;24(6):502-8. PMID24561636
- 28. Gurdjian ES, Roberts VL, Thomas LM. Tolerance curves of acceleration and intracranial pressure and protective index in experimental head injury. J Trauma. 1966;6(5):600-4. PMID5928630
- 29. Guskiewicz KM, Marshall SW, Bailes J, McCrea M, Cantu RC, Randolph C, Jordan BD. Association between recurrent concussion and late-life cognitive impairment in retired professional football players. Neurosurgery. 2005;57(4):719-26. PMID16239884
- Guskiewicz KM, Marshall SW, Bailes J, McCrea M, Harding HP, Jr., Matthews A, Mihalik JR, Cantu RC. Recurrent concussion and risk of depression in retired professional football players. Med Sci Sports Exerc. 2007;39(6):903-9. PMID17545878
- 31. Guskiewicz KM, Mihalik JP. Biomechanics of sport concussion: quest for the elusive injury threshold. Exerc Sport Sci Rev. 2011;39(1):4-11. PMID21088602
- 32. Gutierrez GM, Conte C, Lightbourne K. The relationship between impact force, neck strength, and neurocognitive performance in soccer heading in adolescent females. Pediatr Exerc Sci. 2014;26(1):33-40. PMID24091298
- 33. Haran FJ, Tierney R, Wright WG, Keshner E, Silter M. Acute changes in postural control after soccer heading. Int J Sports Med. 2013;34(4):350-4. PMID23175178
- 34. Hasegawa K, Takeda T, Nakajima K, Ozawa T, Ishigami K, Narimatsu K, Noh K. Does clenching reduce indirect head acceleration during rugby contact? Dent Traumatol. 2014;30(4):259-64. PMID24138128

- 35. Higgins M, Tierney R, Caswell SV, Driban J, Mansell J, Clegg S. An in-vivo model of functional head impact testing in non-helmeted athletes. J Sports Engin Tech. 2009;223:117-23.
- Hu X, Murray WM, Perreault EJ. Muscle short-range stiffness can be used to estimate the endpoint stiffness of the human arm. J Neurophysiol. 2011;105(4):1633-41. PMID21289133
- 37. Hunter IW, Kearney RE. Dynamics of human ankle stiffness: variation with mean ankle torque. J Biomech. 1982;15(10):747-52. PMID7153227
- 38. Institute of Medicine (IOM) and National Research Council (NRC). 2014. Sports-related concussions in youth: Improving the science, changing the culture. Washington, DC: The National Academies Press.
- Ito Y, Corna S, von Brevern M, Bronstein A, Gresty M. The functional effectiveness of neck muscle reflexes for head-righting in response to sudden fall. Exp Brain Res. 1997;117(2):266-72. PMID9419072
- 40. Jadischke R, Viano DC, Dau N, King AI, McCarthy J. On the accuracy of the Head Impact Telemetry (HIT) System used in football helmets. J Biomech. 2013;46(13):2310-5. PMID23891566
- Jin X, Feng Z, Mika V, Li H, Viano DC, Yang KH. The Role of Neck Muscle Activities on the Risk of Mild Traumatic Brain Injury in American Football. J Biomech Eng. 2017;139(10). PMID28753688
- Jubrias SA, Odderson IR, Esselman PC, Conley KE. Decline in isokinetic force with age: muscle cross-sectional area and specific force. Pflugers Arch: Eur J Physiol. 1997;434(3):246-53. PMID9178622
- Keshner EA, Campbell D, Katz RT, Peterson BW. Neck muscle activation patterns in humans during isometric head stabilization. Exp Brain Res. 1989;75(2):335-44. PMID2721613
- 44. Kumar S, Narayan Y, Amell T. Role of awareness in head-neck acceleration in low velocity rear-end impacts. Accid Anal Prev. 2000;32(2):233-41. PMID10688479
- 45. Langlois JA, Rutland-Brown W, Wald MM. The epidemiology and impact of traumatic brain injury: a brief overview. J Head Trauma Rehabil. 2006;21(5):375-8. PMID16983222
- 46. Lipps DB, **Eckner JT**, Richardson JK, **Ashton-Miller JA**. How gender and task difficulty affect a sport-protective response in young adults. J Sports Sci. 2013;31(7):723-30. PMC3608833
- 47. Mansell J, Tierney RT, Sitler MR, Swanik KA, Stearne D. Resistance training and headneck segment dynamic stabilization in male and female collegiate soccer players. J Athl Train. 2005;40(4):310-9. PMID16404453
- 48. Marar M, McIlvain NM, Fields SK, Comstock RD. Epidemiology of concussions among United States high school athletes in 20 sports. Am J Sports Med. 2012;40(4):747-55. PMID22287642
- 49. Mazzini L, Schieppati M. Activation of the neck muscles from the ipsi- or contralateral hemisphere during voluntary head movements in humans. A reaction-time study. Electroencephalogr Clin Neurophysiol. 1992;85(3):183-9. PMID1376676
- 50. McCrea M, Guskiewicz KM, Marshall SW, Barr W, Randolph C, Cantu RC, Onate JA, Yang J, Kelly JP. Acute effects and recovery time following concussion in collegiate football players: the NCAA Concussion Study. JAMA. 2003;290(19):2556-63. PMID14625332
- 51. McCrory P, Meeuwisse W, Dvorak J, Aubry M, Bailes J, Broglio S, Cantu RC, Cassidy D, Echemendia RJ, Castellani RJ, Davis GA, Ellenbogen R, Emery C, Engebretsen L, Feddermann-Demont N, Giza CC, Guskiewicz KM, Herring S, Iverson GL, Johnston KM, Kissick J, Kutcher J, Leddy JJ, Maddocks D, Makdissi M, Manley GT, McCrea M, Meehan WP, Nagahiro S, Patricios J, Putukian M, Schneider KJ, Sills A, Tator CH, Turner M, Vos

PE. Consensus statement on concussion in sport-the 5th international conference on concussion in sport held in Berlin, October 2016. Br J Sports Med. 2017. PMID28446457

- McKee AC, Cantu RC, Nowinski CJ, Hedley-Whyte ET, Gavett BE, Budson AE, Santini VE, Lee HS, Kubilus CA, Stern RA. Chronic traumatic encephalopathy in athletes: progressive tauopathy after repetitive head injury. J Neuropathol Exp Neurol. 2009;68(7):709-35. PMC2945234
- 53. Meaney DF, Smith DH. Biomechanics of concussion. Clin Sports Med. 2011;30(1):19-31, vii. PMC3979340
- 54. Mihalik JP, Blackburn JT, Greenwald RM, Cantu RC, Marshall SW, Guskiewicz KM. Collision type and player anticipation affect head impact severity among youth ice hockey players. Pediatrics. 2010;125(6):e1394-401. PMID20478933
- 55. Mihalik JP, Guskiewicz KM, Marshall SW, Greenwald RM, Blackburn JT, Cantu RC. Does cervical muscle strength in youth ice hockey players affect head impact biomechanics? Clin J Sport Med. 2011;21(5):416-21. PMID21892015
- 56. Mihalik JP, Lynall RC, Wasserman EB, Guskiewicz KM, Marshall SW. Evaluating the "Threshold Theory": Can Head Impact Indicators Help? Med Sci Sports Exerc. 2017;49(2):247-53. PMID27580157
- 57. Narimatsu K, Takeda T, Nakajima K, Konno M, Ozawa T, Ishigami K. Effect of clenching with a mouthguard on head acceleration during heading of a soccer ball. Gen Dent. 2015;63(6):41-6. PMID26545274
- National Federation of State High School Associations. 2016. "2014-15 High School Athletics Participation Survey." <u>http://www.nfhs.org/ParticipationStatics/PDF/2014-</u> <u>15 Participation Survey Results.pdf</u>. Retrieved, March 9, 2016.
- 59. National Institutes of Health. 2017. "Mission and goals." <u>https://www.nih.gov/about-nih/what-we-do/mission-goals</u>. Retrieved, January 31, 2017.
- 60. Naunheim RS, Bayly PV, Standeven J, Neubauer JS, Lewis LM, Genin GM. Linear and angular head accelerations during heading of a soccer ball. Med Sci Sports Exerc. 2003;35(8):1406-12. PMID12900697
- 61. **Peterson MD**, Pistilli E, Haff GG, Hoffman EP, Gordon PM. Progression of volume load and muscular adaptation during resistance exercise. Eur J Appl Physiol. 2011;111(6):1063-71. PMC4215195
- 62. Portero R, Lecompte J, Thoumie P, Portero P. Musculo-tendinous stiffness of the *in vivo* head-neck segment in response to quick releases: A reproducibility study. Isokinet Exerc Sci. 2011;19:7-12.
- 63. Reid SE, Raviv G, Reid SE, Jr. Neck muscle resistance to head impact. Aviat Space Environ Med. 1981;52(2):78-84. PMID7213298
- 64. Riches PE. A dynamic model of the head acceleration associated with heading a soccer ball. Sports Eng. 2006;9(1):39-47.
- Rowson S, Beckwith JG, Chu JJ, Leonard DS, Greenwald RM, Duma SM. A six degree of freedom head acceleration measurement device for use in football. J Appl Biomech. 2011;27(1):8-14. PMID21451177
- 66. Rowson S, Duma SM. Brain Injury Prediction: Assessing the Combined Probability of Concussion Using Linear and Rotational Head Acceleration. Ann Biomed Eng. 2013. PMC3624001
- 67. Schmidt JD, Guskiewicz KM, Blackburn JT, Mihalik JP, Siegmund GP, Marshall SW. The influence of cervical muscle characteristics on head impact biomechanics in football. Am J Sports Med. 2014;42(9):2056-66. PMID24928761
- 68. Schnebel B, Gwin JT, Anderson S, Gatlin R. In vivo study of head impacts in football: a comparison of National Collegiate Athletic Association Division I versus high school impacts. Neurosurgery. 2007;60(3):490-5. PMID17327793

- Simoneau E, Martin A, Porter MM, Van Hoecke J. Strength training in old age: adaptation of antagonist muscles at the ankle joint. Muscle Nerve. 2006;33(4):546-55. PMID16372326
- 70. Simoneau M, Denninger M, Hain TC. Role of loading on head stability and effective neck stiffness and viscosity. J Biomech. 2008;41(10):2097-103. PMID18571655
- 71. Stump J, Rash G, Semon J, Christian W, Miller K. A comparison of two modes of cervical exercise in adolescent male athletes. J Manipulative Physiol Ther. 1993;16(3):155-60. PMID8492058
- 72. Taylor MK, Hodgdon JA, Griswold L, Miller A, Roberts DE, Escamilla RF. Cervical resistance training: effects on isometric and dynamic strength. Aviat Space Environ Med. 2006;77(11):1131-5. PMID17086765
- 73. Thelen DG, **Ashton-Miller JA**, Schultz AB, Alexander NB. Do neural factors underlie age differences in rapid ankle torque development? J Am Geriatr Soc. 1996;44(7):804-8. PMID8675928
- 74. Tierney RT, Higgins M, Caswell SV, Brady J, McHardy K, Driban JB, Darvish K. Sex differences in head acceleration during heading while wearing soccer headgear. J Athl Train. 2008;43(6):578-84. PMC2582549
- 75. Tierney RT, Sitler MR, Swanik CB, Swanik KA, Higgins M, Torg J. Gender differences in head-neck segment dynamic stabilization during head acceleration. Med Sci Sports Exerc. 2005;37(2):272-9. PMID15692324
- 76. Triplett NT, Williams C, McHenry P, Doscher M. Strength and conditioning professional standards and guidelines. Colorado Springs, CO: National Strength and Conditioning Association; 2009.
- 77. **Vasavada AN**, Brault JR, Siegmund GP. Musculotendon and fascicle strains in anterior and posterior neck muscles during whiplash injury. Spine. 2007;32(7):756-65. PMID17414909
- Vasavada AN, Li S, Delp SL. Influence of muscle morphometry and moment arms on the moment-generating capacity of human neck muscles. Spine. 1998; 23(4): 412-422. PMID9516695
- Vasavada AN, Nevins DD, Monda SM, Hughes E, Lin DC. Gravitational demand on the neck musculature during tablet computer use. Ergonomics. 2015;58(6):990-1004. PMID25643042
- 80. **Vasavada AN**, Peterson BW, Delp SL. Three-dimensional spatial tuning of neck muscle activation in humans. Exp Brain Res. 2002; 147(4): 437-448. PMID12444475
- Veldhuizen JW, Verstappen FT, Vroemen JP, Kuipers H, Greep JM. Functional and morphological adaptations following four weeks of knee immobilization. Int J Sports Med. 1993;14(5):283-7. PMID8365837
- 82. Veliz P, McCabe SE, **Eckner JT**, Schulenberg JE. Prevalence of Concussion Among US Adolescents and Correlated Factors. JAMA. 2017;318(12):1180-2. PMID28973604
- Viano DC, Casson IR, Pellman EJ. Concussion in professional football: biomechanics of the struck player--part 14. Neurosurgery. 2007;61(2):313-27; discussion 27-8. PMID17762744
- 84. Weiss PL, Hunter IW, Kearney RE. Human ankle joint stiffness over the full range of muscle activation levels. J Biomech. 1988;21(7):539-44. PMID3410857
- 85. Wiegner AW, Watts RL. Elastic properties of muscles measured at the elbow in man: I. Normal controls. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry. 1986;49(10):1171-6. PMID3783178
- 86. Young A, Stokes M, Crowe M. The size and strength of the quadriceps muscles of old and young men. Clin Physiol. 1985;5(2):145-54. PMID3888498
- 87. Zajac FE. Muscle and tendon: properties, models, scaling, and application to biomechanics and motor control. Crit Rev Biomed Eng. 1989;17(4):359-411. PMID2676342

- 88. Zemper ED. Two-year prospective study of relative risk of a second cerebral concussion. Am J Phys Med Rehabil. 2003; 82(9): 653-659. PMID12960905
- 89. Zheng L, Siegmund G, Ozyigit G, **Vasavada A**. Sex-specific prediction of neck muscle volumes. J Biomech. 2013;46(5):899-904. PMID23351366